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Comment

I became the President and CEO of Länsförsäkringar AB in Septem-
ber 2018 after serving as President of Länsförsäkringar Stockholm 
for six years. It is an immense and exciting task to have the opportu-
nity, from a slightly new angle, to continue to be involved in deve-
loping Länsförsäkringar’s position in banking, non-life insurance and 
pensions together with the entire Länsförsäkringar Alliance. 

For the regional insurance companies, Länsförsäkringar AB is the 
partner that supports them in realising the customer promise and de-
livering the offering expected by customers. Experience shows that 
Länsförsäkringar’s local business model combined with joint resour-
ces creates substantial added value for customers. For this reason, it 
is highly gratifying that Länsförsäkringar topped many of the Swedish 
Quality Index’s 2018 customer satisfaction surveys – Länsförsäkring-
ar has the most satisfied retail and corporate customers in non-life 
insurance, the most satisfied retail and mortgage customers in ban-
king, the most satisfied retail customers in pension insurance and the 
most satisfied customers in real-estate brokerage. 

Länsförsäkringar’s business model also creates a solid basis for 
long-term social responsibility. We can help reduce sustainability 
risks and also contribute to the positive development of society and 
create business value by incorporating sustainability into all parts of 
our business. In 2018, Länsförsäkringar was named Sweden’s most 
sustainable insurance company by Sustainable Brand Index accor-
ding to both retail and corporate customers. Länsförsäkringar also 
came first in the Swedish Sustainability Ranking in the Banking and 
Finance category. 

Sweden has experienced several incidences of extreme weather in 
recent times. The hot summer caused serious drought and forest 
fires, the country experienced severe torrential rain and winter 
storms. Climate risk is the area of sustainability that presents the 
most important challenge for Länsförsäkringar since climate change 
affects all of our business areas and results in major socio-economic 
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consequences. Länsförsäkringar endeavours to limit and reduce the 
risk of climate impact, for example through claims prevention, re-
sponsible investments, research, engagement and information. 

The Länsförsäkringar Alliance’s non-life insurance operations 
reported a combined ratio of 96%, with slightly higher claims costs in 
2018, mainly due to weather-related claims. The healthy growth con-
tinued in 2018 and premiums earned increased 5%. However, invest-
ment income declined, primarily as a result of the unfavourable 
stock-market sentiment in the fourth quarter. Operating profit 
amounted to SEK 2.3 billion. Based on 2018 earnings, the regional in-
surance companies will pay back at least SEK 0.8 billion in bonuses 
and discounts to their owners – the customers. 

The Länsförsäkringar AB Group reported solid operating profit of 
SEK 2.4 billion. The non-life insurance operations contributed an ope-
rating profit of SEK 0.5 billion. Agria’s healthy growth continued and 
the company now has operations in six countries. Operating profit for 
the unit-linked insurance operations increased to SEK 0.7 billion, with 
managed assets of SEK 126 billion. The banking operations continued 
a journey of healthy growth in 2018; lending increased 11% with conti-
nued high credit quality. Operating profit amounted to SEK 1.5 billion. 
Earnings were impacted by non-recurring items related to the final 
stage of the replacement of the bank’s IT platform. The new platform 
will provide new opportunities to further develop the bank’s leading 
digital solutions demanded by customers. 

In conclusion, it is gratifying that we can sum up a good year in 
which we once again saw confirmation of the strength of our business 
model with clear elements of stability, a long-term approach, sustai-
nability and especially the local and customer-owned model.

Fredrik Bergström 
President and CEO of Länsförsäkringar AB 
The Länsförsäkringar Alliance’s jointly owned company

The year in brief Figures in parentheses pertain to the full-year 2017.

 • Operating profit for the Länsförsäkringar Alliance’s non-life insurance operations amounted to SEK 2,275 M (7,078), with investment income 
of SEK 1,773 M (6,969). Bonuses and discounts amounted to SEK 794 M (1,798).

 • The technical result for the Länsförsäkringar Alliance’s non-life insurance operations amounted to SEK 1,781 M (2,529). Premiums earned 
after ceded reinsurance rose 5% to SEK 26,752 M (25,504). The combined ratio was 96% (92).

 • Operating profit for the Länsförsäkringar AB Group amounted to SEK 2,351 M (2,825). The return on equity was 9% (11).

 • Operating profit for the Länsförsäkringar Sak Group amounted to SEK 460 M (1,028). The combined ratio amounted to 94% (88).

 • Operating profit for the Länsförsäkringar Bank Group amounted to SEK 1,510 M (1,599). Net interest income strengthened to SEK 4,497 M (3,996).

 • Operating profit for Länsförsäkringar Fondliv increased to SEK 673 M (600). Premium income amounted to SEK 9,010 M (9,133).  
Commission and fee income increased to SEK 1,671 M (1,578).

 • Profit for Länsförsäkringar Liv amounted to SEK 609 M (3,121). 
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The Länsförsäkringar Alliance comprises 23 local and customer-owned 
regional insurance companies and the jointly owned Länsförsäkringar AB. 
Customers are provided with a complete offering of banking, insurance 
and real-estate brokerage services through the regional insurance 
companies. 

The starting point is local presence and decision-making. Experien-
ce shows that local decision-making authority combined with joint 
 strength creates substantial added value for customers.

Long-term respect for customers’ money is fundamental. There 
are no external shareholders; it is the customers’ money that is being 
managed. This approach characterises the entire business. 

The Länsförsäkringar Alliance has 3.9 million customers and 6,700 
employees. The Länsförsäkringar Alliance is not a Group in the legal sense 
of the term. Most of the non-life insurance business in the Länsförsäk-
ringar Alliance is underwritten in the regional insurance companies. 

The business conducted by Länsförsäkringar AB’s non-life insu-
rance group primarily comprises health, pet and crop insurance, and 
some cargo, liability, property and motor insurance. The Länsförsäk-
ringar AB Group also manages the Länsförsäkringar Alliance’s reinsu-
rance cover and assumed international reinsurance. Earnings from 
the Länsförsäkringar Alliance’s non-life insurance operations consist 
of the total earnings of the 23 regional insurance companies and the 
non-life insurance operations of the Länsförsäkringar AB Group.

Länsförsäkringar Liv is operated according to mutual principles 
and is not consolidated in Länsförsäkringar AB. 

Rating
Company Agency Long-term rating Short-term rating

Länsförsäkringar AB S & P Global Ratings A–/Stable –

Länsförsäkringar AB Moody’s A3/Stable –

Länsförsäkringar Bank S & P Global Ratings A/Stable A–1(K–1)

Länsförsäkringar Bank Moody’s A1/Stable P–1

Länsförsäkringar Hypotek1) S & P Global Ratings AAA/Stable –

Länsförsäkringar Hypotek1) Moody’s Aaa –

Länsförsäkringar Sak S & P Global Ratings A/Stable –

Länsförsäkringar Sak Moody’s A2/Stable –

Länsförsäkringar Alliance Market commentary

1) Pertains to the company’s covered bonds.

3.9 million customers

23 local regional insurance companies

Länsförsäkringar AB

Länsförsäkringar  
Bank A

B

Länsförsäkringar Sak 
Försäkrings A

B

Länsförsäkringar  
Fondliv Försäkrings A

B

* The company is operated according to mutual principles and is not consolidated in Länsförsäkringar AB.

Länsförsäkringar Liv 
Försäkrings A

B*

The global economy performed relatively well in 2018, with growth of 
just under 4%. However, global growth slowed in the second half of 
the year following the economic boom and high growth in GDP of the 
last few years. The US reported the strongest trend with healthy GDP 
growth and high confidence among both consumers and companies. 
The most important driver was the expansive fiscal policy that inclu-
des tax reductions.

The Fed lifted its key interest rate by 0.25 percentage points four 
times during the year and has indicated that two additional hikes can 
be expected in 2019. The US economy is expected to contract going 
forward in line with both fiscal and monetary policy becoming less 
expansive. Growth in China declined slightly in 2018, mainly driven by 
new regulations that slowed credit growth. Due to the weaker econo-
mic outlook, both fiscal and monetary policy changed track in a more 
expansive direction in a bid to stimulate the economy. The growth 
rate in the Eurozone clearly decelerated but is still expected to end 
up at close to 2%. The ECB left its key interest rate unchanged at 0% 
during the year and indicated that the first hike would not be until the 
second half of 2019 at the earliest. Nonetheless, the ECB unwound its 
monetary stimulus programmes by gradually reducing its net purcha-
ses of bonds and subsequently ended them at the end of the year. 

2018 was a significantly more dramatic year for the financial mar-
kets than the real economy appeared to suggest. The trend in the fi-
nancial markets for the first three quarters of the year was relatively 
stable, but the last quarter was dominated by uncertainty and consi-
derably higher volatility. The change in sentiment was driven by such 
factors as concern for growth related to the trade war between the 
US and China, uncertainty surrounding Brexit and Italy’s government 
finances. Stock markets tumbled sharply in the fourth quarter and 
the Stockholm Stock Exchange ended the full-year at almost minus 
8%. This trend resulted in lower expectations about future key inte-
rest rates, falling long-term government bond rates and greater dif-
ferences between rates for corporate and government bonds. Rates 
on covered bonds also declined during the year.

The Swedish economy performed relatively well, with both growth 
and employment reporting positive trends, and unemployment decli-
ned despite a growing labour force. The housing market stabilised 
during the year following a weaker initial trend and housing prices are 
expected to have risen slightly for the country as a whole. Construc-
tion was strong at the start of the year, but later slowed and is expec-
ted to end with about the same number of completed housing units 
as in 2017. In December, the Riksbank raised the repo rate by 0.25 
percentage points to -0.25% since inflation and inflation expectations 
were deemed to have established at about 2%.
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Report commented on the development January-December 2018 compared to January-December 2017, unless otherwise stated.
Amounts are in SEK, unless otherwise stated.

Financial overview

Länsförsäkringar Alliance
Jan-Dec 2018 Jul-Dec 2018 Jan-Jun 2018 Jan-Dec 2017

Total capital, SEK M 75,839 75,839 76,210 72,442

Non-life insurance

Solvency capital, SEK M 68,879 68,879 69,999 66,149

Solvency margin, % 254 254 262 253

Return on equity, % 3 –5 11 11

Premiums earned after ceded reinsurance, SEK M 26,752 13,616 13,136 25,504

Technical result, SEK M 1,781 1,126 655 2,529

Operating profit, SEK M 2,275 –1,796 4,071 7,078

Combined ratio, % 96 94 98 92

Länsförsäkringar AB, Group1) 

Jan-Dec 2018 Jul-Dec 2018 Jan-Jun 2018 Jan-Dec 2017

Operating profit, SEK M 2,351 975 1,376 2,825

Total assets, SEK M 506,835 506,835 509,807 473,773

Return on equity, % 9 8 11 11

Own funds for the group (FRL)2) , SEK M 43,870 43,870 45,988 44,172

Solvency capital requirement for the group (FRL)2), SEK M 33,874 33,874 35,182 33,441

Own funds for the financial conglomerate3) , SEK M 43,870 43,870 45,988 44,172

Capital requirement for the financial conglomerate3), SEK M 33,874 33,874 35,182 33,441

Länsförsäkringar Sak, Group
Jan-Dec 2018 Jul-Dec 2018 Jan-Jun 2018 Jan-Dec 2017

Premiums earned after ceded reinsurance, SEK M 5,891 3,008 2,884 5,623

Technical result, SEK M 402 184 218 977

Operating profit, SEK M 460 167 295 1,028

Solvency ratio, % (Länsförsäkringar Sak Försäkrings AB) 228 228 233 221

Länsförsäkringar Bank, Group
Jan-Dec 2018 Jul-Dec 2018 Jan-Jun 2018 Jan-Dec 2017

Deposits from the public, SEK M 108,142 108,142 104,412 99,404

Loans to the public, SEK M 289,426 289,426 275,841 261,444

Operating profit, SEK M 1,510 622 888 1,599

Return on equity, % 8.3 6.6 10.3 10.0

Tier 1 ratio Bank Group, %   14.24) 14.24) 25.9 24.3

Länsförsäkringar Fondliv
Jan-Dec 2018 Jul-Dec 2018 Jan-Jun 2018 Jan-Dec 2017

Premium income (rolling 12-months), SEK M 9,010 9,010 8,999 9,133

Operating profit, SEK M 673 385 288 600

Managed assets, SEK M 125,805 125,805 135,001 128,140

Solvency ratio, % 135 135 151 152

Länsförsäkringar Liv (not consolidated in Länsförsäkringar AB)

Jan-Dec 2018 Jul-Dec 2018 Jan-Jun 2018 Jan-Dec 2017

Premium income after ceded reinsurance, SEK M 1,684 866 818 1,533

Profit, SEK M 609 –174 783 3,121

Managed assets, SEK M 109,372 109,372 113,387 115,128

Solvency ratio, % 200 200 191 207

1) Excluding Länsförsäkringar Liv Försäkrings AB. The company is operated in accordance with mutual principles.
2)  According to Swedish Insurance Business Act (FRL), Solvens II directive in Swedish law.
3)  The finanicial conglomerate comprises Länsförsäkringar AB, all insurance companies in the Group, Länsförsäkringar Bank AB with subsidiaries and Länsförsäkringar Liv Försäkrings AB.  
4) As of 31 December 2018, the application of the risk weight floor for Swedish mortgages changed, which consequently reduces the capital ratios from this period.
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Non-life insurance

 • According to the Swedish Quality Index’s 2018 customer satisfaction survey, Länsförsäkringar has Sweden’s most 
satisfied retail and corporate customers in non-life insurance.

 • Operating profit amounted to SEK 2,275 M (7,078) with investment income of SEK 1,773 M (6,969).
 • Premiums earned after ceded reinsurance increased 5% to SEK 26,752 M (25,504).
 • The technical result amounted to SEK 1,781 M (2,529).
 • The combined ratio amounted to 96% (92) with a claims ratio of 76% (74).
 • Solvency capital increased SEK 2,730 M during the period to SEK 68,879 M.

The year in brief Figures in parentheses pertain to the same period in 2017.

Non-life insurance, Länsförsäkringar Alliance

Key figures, SEK M
Jan-Dec  

2018
Jul-Dec  

2018
Jan-Jun 

2018
Jan-Dec 

2017

Premiums earned after ceded reinsurance 26,752 13,616 13,136 25,504

Technical result 1,781 1,126 655 2,529

Bonuses and discounts -794 –637 –157 –1,798

Total investment income 1,773 –2,098 3,871 6,969

Operating profit 2,275 –1,796 4,071 7,078

Solvency capital 68,879 68,879 69,999 66,149

Solvency margin, % 254 254 262 253

Expense ratio, % 19 19 20 18

Claims ratio, % 76 75 78 74

Combined ratio, % 96 94 98 92

Earnings
Earnings from the Länsförsäkringar Allian-
ce’s non-life insurance operations consist of 
the total earnings of the 23 regional insuran-
ce companies and the non-life insurance 
operations of the Länsförsäkringar AB Group. 

Operating profit for the Länsförsäkringar 
Alliance’s non-life insurance operations 
amounted to SEK 2,275 M (7,078). The change 
in profit was mainly due to lower investment 
income of SEK 1,773 M (6,969). Stock markets 
fell sharply in the fourth quarter of 2018 
compared with exceptionally strong invest-
ment income in 2017. Based on 2018 earnings, 
the regional insurance companies will pay 
back at least SEK 0.8 billion in bonuses and 
discounts to their owners – the customers. 

Despite healthy premium growth of 5%, 
the technical result declined to SEK 1,781 M 
(2,529), mainly due to increased costs for fire 
and natural damage claims. Accordingly, the 
claims ratio increased to 76% (74). The ex-
pense ratio was 19% (18), resulting in a com-
bined ratio of 96% (92). Measured as a 
five-year average, the combined ratio was 
93% and the claims ratio 74%. 

Solvency capital increased SEK 2,730 M in 
2018, amounting to SEK 68,879 M on 31 De-
cember 2018. The solvency margin amounted 
to 254% (253).

Business volumes 
Länsförsäkringar’s leading position in the 
Swedish non-life insurance market remained 
stable with a market share of 30.3% for the 
third quarter of 2018, according to statistics 
from Insurance Sweden. 

Premiums earned increased 5% to SEK 
26,752 M (25,504). The increase was primarily 
attributable to premium increases, but also 
portfolio increases. Premiums earned for 
private insurance increased 3.1%, with 
growth continuing to be driven by household, 
homeowner and accident insurance. Agria’s 
healthy growth continued, due to both pre-
mium increases and portfolio growth, parti-
cularly in its international operations. Premi-
ums earned for the commercial segment 
rose 5.2%, primarily driven by healthy growth 
in commercial property and commercial in-
surance. Premiums earned in the motor in-
surance segment increased 3.0%, driven by 

both premium increases and portfolio incre-
ases. Premiums earned in the agriculture 
segment rose 3.6%. 

Claims trend 
Claims payments after ceded reinsurance 
amounted to SEK 20,210 M (18,571) and the 
claims ratio increased to 76% (74). Weather-
related claims dominated 2018. Snow and 
freezing claims, in particular, increased in the 
first half of 2018 as a result of the long win-
ter, as did fire-damage claims. The second 
half of the year saw a rise mainly in fire and 
water-damage and storm-related claims. 
Motor insurance claims, primarily hull and 
motor third-party liability, also increased 
compared with 2017. 

The long-term consequences of climate 
change for Sweden are of immediate interest 
given the exceptionally hot summer of 2018 
that caused severe drought and forest fires. 
The country experienced severe torrential 
rain and winter storms. Climate risk is the 
area of sustainability that presents the most 
important challenge for Länsförsäkringar. 
For the insurance industry, global warming 

Most of the Länsförsäkringar’s non-life insurance business is underwritten by the regional insurance companies. Earnings from the Länsförsäkringar Alliance’s non-life 
insurance operations consist of the total earnings of the 23 regional insurance companies and the non-life insurance operations of the Länsförsäkringar AB Group. 
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can lead to significant claims costs. That is 
why environmental claims-prevention activi-
ties are extremely important for Länsförsäk-
ringar. As part of Länsförsäkringar’s sub-
stantial claims-prevention activities, 
customers and the public are informed about 
what to do to avoid risks connected with 
torrential rain, storms, drought and fires. 

Investment income 
The Länsförsäkringar Alliance’s investment 
income declined to SEK 1,773 M (6,969), pri-
marily as a result of the unfavourable 
stock-market sentiment in the fourth quar-
ter of 2018. However, increases in value in 
property investments, mainly from holdings 
in Humlegården, made a positive contribu-
tion. Investment return was 1.7% of the asset 
value on 31 December 2018.

 Equities   Interest-bearing 

 Property   Other 

Total investment assets amounted to SEK 104.8 billion on 
31 December 2018.

Allocation of investment assets 

40.2%

21.6%

29.0%

9.2%

Other events
In June, Länsförsäkringar entered into an 
important partnership with Toyota entailing 
that Länsförsäkringar took over responsibili-
ty for brand insurance and vehicle-damage 
guarantees for Toyota and Lexus cars in the 
Swedish market on 1 January 2019. Techno-
logical advances are rapid and the motor in-
surance market will see a need for new insu-
rance solutions. With Toyota as a partner 
that is highly skilled in innovation and packa-
ging, and strong in sustainability, Länsför-
säkringar will be even better equipped to un-
derstand these new needs and thus continue 
to offer relevant insurance solutions.
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Bank

 • According to the Swedish Quality Index’s 2018 customer satisfaction survey, Länsförsäkringar Bank has Sweden’s 
most satisfied retail and mortgage customers.

 • Operating profit amounted to SEK 1,510 M (1,599) with a return on equity of 8.3% (10.0). Profit was impacted by 
non-recurring costs of SEK 407 M.

 • Net interest income increased 13% to SEK 4,497 M (3,996).

 • Business volumes increased to SEK 561 billion (520), deposits rose to SEK 108 billion (99) and lending increased to 
SEK 289 billion (261).

 • The number of customers with Länsförsäkringar as their primary bank rose 9% and the number of bank cards increased 10%.

The year in brief Figures in parentheses pertain to the same period in 2017.

Länsförsäkringar Bank, Group

Key figures, SEK M
Jan-Dec  

2018
Jul-Dec  

2018
Jan-Jun 

2018
Jan-Dec 

2017

Deposits from the public 108,142 108,142 104,412 99,404

Loans to the public 289,426 289,426 275,841 261,444

Operating profit 1,510 622 888 1,599

Return on equity, % 8.3 6.6 10.3 10.0

Cost/income ratio before loan losses 0.58 0.66 0.48 0.49

Earnings
The Länsförsäkringar Bank Group’s operating 
profit amounted to SEK 1,510 M (1,599). Ope-
rating profit declined mainly due to costs of 
SEK 407 M charged to earnings in the second 
half of the year, most of which was attributa-
ble to the final stage of the replacement of 
the bank’s platform for deposits, lending and 
payments. The underlying earnings trend re-
mained favourable and operating profit, ex-
cluding non-recurring items affecting com-
parability, amounted to SEK 1,917 M, up 20%. 

Net interest income rose 13% to SEK 
4,497 M (3,996), mainly attributable to higher 
volumes. Return on equity amounted to 8.3% 
(10.0) and was impacted by the abovementio-
ned non-recurring costs. Return on equity 
excluding these costs was 10.6%. 

Net gains from financial items amounted to 
SEK 14 M (–49) due to changes in fair value. Net 
commission amounted to SEK –773 M (–750) 
due to higher remuneration to the regional 
insurance companies as a result of a healthy 
volume trend.
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Expenses
Operating expenses increased to SEK 2,178 
M (1,601), mainly due to the replacement of 
the bank’s platform for deposits, lending and 
payments. The new platform will mean a ma-
jor shift in Länsförsäkringar Bank’s ability to 
develop the digital offering and create op-
portunities to further advance the bank’s po-
sition in this area. The underlying cost in-
crease excluding non-recurring costs of SEK 
407 M was 11%. Länsförsäkringar Bank will 
transition to the new platform during the se-
cond quarter of 2019. 

The cost/income ratio before credit losses 
amounted to 0.58 (0.49). Excluding non-recur-
ring costs of SEK 407 M, the cost/income ra-
tio before credit losses was 0.47. 

Credit losses  
The Bank Group applies IFRS 9 Financial In-
struments from 1 January 2018. The main 
 financial impact of the standard is on the 
calculation of loss allowance. Under IFRS 9, 
the loss allowance is based on expected 
 losses and is calculated on initial recogni-
tion. Credit losses amounted to SEK 95 M 
(58), net, corresponding to a credit loss level 
of 0.04% (0.02). Credit-impaired loan recei-

vables (stage 3) before provisions amounted 
to SEK 742 M, corresponding to a share of 
credit-impaired loan receivables of 0.17%. 
The estimated value of collateral for cre-
dit-impaired loan receivables was SEK 452 M. 
The total recognised loss allowance for loan 
receivables under IFRS 9 amounted to SEK 
425 M, of which SEK 242 M pertained to cre-
dit-impaired loan receivables. The reserve 
ratio for credit-impaired loan receivables 
amounted to 32.6%. In addition to the reco-
gnised loss allowance for loan receivables, 
SEK 74 M of the remuneration to the regional 
insurance companies’ credit-risk commit-
ments for generated business is withheld in 
accordance with the settlement model. In-
cluding the withheld remuneration to the re-
gional insurance companies, the loss al-
lowance for loan receivables totalled SEK 
499 M. The reserve ratio for credit-impaired 
loan receivables, including withheld remune-
ration to the regional insurance companies, 
amounted to 37.0%.

Business volumes
Business volumes rose 8% to SEK 561 billion 
(520). Lending increased 11% to SEK 289 bil-
lion (261) with continued high credit quality. 

Länsförsäkringar offers banking services through Länsförsäkringar Bank, which is part of the Länsförsäkringar AB Group. The 23 regional insurance companies are 
responsible for the bank’s customer contact, while Länsförsäkringar AB is responsible for conducting joint business activities, strategic development activities and 
providing service.
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Lending in Länsförsäkringar Hypotek increa-
sed 12% to SEK 221 billion (198). Deposits in-
creased 9% to SEK 108 billion (99). Fund volu-
mes increased 3% to SEK 164  billion (159).

 Retail mortgages  Customer deposits 

 Agricultural loans  Funds  Other loans

Business volumes for the Bank Group
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Funding
The Bank Group has a low refinancing risk 
and the maturity profile is well diversified. 
Debt securities in issue increased to a nomi-
nal SEK 204 billion (183), of which covered 
bonds amounted to SEK 164 billion (147), se-
nior long-term funding to SEK 40 billion (35) 
and short-term funding to SEK 0.3 billion 
(1.0). The average remaining term for the 
long-term funding was 3.5 years (3.5) on 31 
December 2018. 

Covered bonds were issued during the 
year at a volume of a nominal SEK 40 billion 
(39), repurchased covered bonds to a nomi-
nal SEK 14 billion (7) and matured covered 
bonds to a nominal SEK 9 billion (7). Länsför-
säkringar Bank issued senior unsecured 
bonds of a nominal SEK 11 billion (14) during 
the year, while maturities amounted to a no-
minal SEK 6 billion (8). 

The Swedish National Debt Office deci-
ded in June that the liabilities that Länsför-
säkringar Bank in the consolidated situation 
uses to meet the minimum requirement for 
own funds and eligible liabilities (MREL) are 
to be subordinated. The volume of subordi-

nated liabilities must be built up by 2022. 
In December, the Debt Office established 

its annual decisions on resolution plans and 
MREL for the institutions that the Debt Office 
deems to be systemically important, which 
includes Länsförsäkringar Bank. The Debt 
Office also decided on individual minimum 
requirements for Länsförsäkringar Bank’s 
subsidiaries, Länsförsäkringar Hypotek and 
Wasa Kredit, that will start to apply in 2019.
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 Commercial papers
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Liquidity
On 31 December 2018, the liquidity reserve 
amounted to SEK 54.4 billion (48.1). The liqui-
dity reserve is invested in securities with 
very high credit quality that are eligible for 
transactions with the Riksbank and, where 
applicable, with the ECB. By utilising the li-
quidity reserve, contractual undertakings 
can be met for more than two years without 
needing to secure new funding in the capital 
market. The Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) 
for the consolidated situation on 31 Decem-
ber 2018 amounted to 305% (339). The Net 
Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) for the consoli-
dated situation amounted to 115%* (116) on 
31 December 2018. 

*  The calculation is based on Länsförsäkringar Bank’s interpretation 
of the Basel Committee’s most recent Net Stable Funding Ratio 
proposal. 

Other events 
On 2 April 2018, Sven Eggefalk took office as 
President of Länsförsäkringar Bank. Fredrik 
Bergström became the new Chairman of 
Länsförsäkringar Bank on 10 September 
2018. On 8 October 2018, Thomas Högväg 
took office as the new President of Wasa 
Kredit and joined the bank’s management 
group.
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Life assurance and pension insurance

 • According to the Swedish Quality Index’s 2018 customer satisfaction survey, Länsförsäkringar has Sweden’s most 
satisfied retail customers in pension insurance.

 • Operating profit for Länsförsäkringar Fondliv increased to SEK 673 M (600).

 • Total managed assets for Länsförsäkringar Fondliv amounted to SEK 126 billion (128).

 • Profit for Länsförsäkringar Liv amounted to SEK 609 M (3,121).

 • Total managed assets for Länsförsäkringar Liv amounted to SEK 109 billion (115).

The year in brief Figures in parentheses pertain to the same period in 2017.

Länsförsäkringar Fondliv and Länsförsäkringar Liv

Key figures, SEK M
Jan-Dec  

2018
Jul-Dec  

2018
Jan-Jun 

2018
Jan-Dec 

2017

Länsförsäkringar Fondliv

Premium income, net (rolling 12 months) 9,010 9,010 8,999 9,133

Operating profit 673 385 288 600

Managed assets 125,805 125,805 135,001 128,140

Solvency ratio, % 135 135 151 152

Länsförsäkringar Liv  
(not consolidated in Länsförsäkringar AB)

Profit 609 –174 783 3,121

Managed assets 109,372 109,372 113,387 115,128

Collective consolidation ratio, New Trad, % 105 105 115 117

Collective consolidation ratio, Old Trad, % 124 124 125 123

Solvency ratio, % 200 200 191 207

Earnings for Länsförsäkringar Fondliv
Operating profit for Länsförsäkringar Fondliv 
increased to SEK 673 M (600). Net flow of 
premiums and capital from existing and new 
customers in 2018 was a positive SEK 2,444 
M (3,225). However, due to the negative re-
turn resulting from the unfavourable 
stock-market sentiment at year-end, total 
managed assets declined to SEK 126 billion 
(128) on 31 December 2018. 

Total premium income amounted to SEK 
9,010 M (9,133), of which capital transferred 
to the company was SEK 1,304 M (1,444). Pre-
mium income after ceded reinsurance for in-
surance risk increased to SEK 234 M (198). 
Commission and fee income rose to SEK 
1,671 M (1,578) due to growing managed as-
sets in 2018. 

Operating expenses rose to SEK 1,106 M 
(1,028), primarily due to higher distribution 
costs. Investments were also made in digital 
development, such as greater functionality in 
Länsförsäkringar’s app and continued robo-
tisation of processes in unit-linked insurance.
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Capital situation
Länsförsäkringar Fondliv’s capital situation is 
expressed and measured in accordance with 
Solvency II as a ratio of own funds in relation 
to risk-based capital requirements. Länsför-
säkringar Fondliv’s solvency ratio on 31 De-
cember 2018 amounted to 135% (152). The 
solvency ratio fell due to the negative market 
trend at the end of 2018 and the commit-
ment in a renewed long-term service agre-
ement with Länsförsäkringar Liv. 

Länsförsäkringar Fondliv’s unit-linked 
insurance and guarantee management
Unit-linked insurance
The general market performance was positi-
ve for most of the year but turned in the 
fourth quarter, which resulted in negative re-
turns in many markets in 2018. This trend 
was also reflected in the fund range. Just 
under 90% of the funds in the total range 
performed negatively. 70% of the funds de-
creased by between 0 and 10%, and 18% fell 
more than 10%. Funds targeting equities in 

China, Asia and European small companies 
were the categories that reported the wea-
kest performance. Slightly more than 10% of 
the funds trended positively, with Länsför-
säkringar Fastighetsfond reporting the 
strongest trend, increasing just over 13%. 
Other funds that noted a positive perfor-
mance during the year were found in the ca-
tegories of pharmaceuticals and technology, 
with returns of about 10%. 

Länsförsäkringar Fondliv works conti-
nuously on realising a new fund strategy of 
simplifications and greater choice for custo-
mers. The fund range will be increased in 
both scope and quality. 19 new funds were 
launched in 2018, leading to more options for 
customers to invest in different equities and 
interest-bearing categories and in funds with 
a sustainability focus. The funds in the re-
commended range are carefully analysed 
and assessed based on criteria including ma-
nagement organisation, return and sustaina-
bility. The return in Länsförsäkringar’s fund 
range was strong in terms of the competition 

Länsförsäkringar offers pension savings, primarily occupational pensions. Fund management, guarantee management and personal-risk insurance are offered through 
Länsförsäkringar Fondliv. No new policies are underwritten in Länsförsäkringar Liv, the company manages traditional life assurance that was taken out before Sep-
tember 2011. Länsförsäkringar Liv is operated according to mutual principles and is not consolidated in Länsförsäkringar AB.

8
Länsförsäkringar Alliance 
Annual Review in summary 2018 8 Life assurance and pension insurance



during the year and Söderberg & Partners 
put Länsförsäkringar’s fund range at the top 
of its return list. The fund range also has a 
high sustainability ranking.

Guarantee Management
Länsförsäkringar Fondliv offers management 
of pension insurance carrying a guarantee 
element regarding paid-in premiums. The gu-
arantee principle is that Länsförsäkringar 
guarantees a portion of the customer’s paid-
in insurance capital with the possibility of ad-
ditional returns. A number of changes were 
made to this savings form from 1 February 
2019 to modernise it and adapt it to prevail-
ing market conditions. The aim is to enhance 
the competitiveness of the offering and to 
create the conditions for generating secure 
and long-term returns on pension custo-
mers’ savings. 

The assets are divided between inte-
rest-bearing investments, equities and alter-
native investments, with the interest-bearing 
portion always being at least 40%. On 31 De-
cember 2018, 65% of the investments com-
prised interest-bearing investments and 35% 
equities. 

Managed assets amounted to SEK 3.2 
 billion (3.1). 

Investment return was -4,0% (6,0).

Earnings for Länsförsäkringar Liv
Profit for Länsförsäkringar Liv amounted to 
SEK 609 M (3,121). The change in profit com-
pared with 2017 was largely due to lower in-
vestment income, primarily as a result of 
weaker stock markets in the fourth quarter, 
and the negative interest rate trend in 2018. 

Despite weak capital markets at the end 
of the year, earnings for 2018 were positive, 
mainly due to the risk result of SEK 503 M, 
transitions to New Trad and changed ass-
umptions for calculating technical liabilities. 
Transitions to New Trad made a positive 
contribution to earnings in 2018 based on 
lower technical provisions. In addition, incre-
ases in value of alternative assets, mainly 
properties and forest, contributed to profit 
for the year. 

Profit was negatively impacted by long-term 
market interest rates falling by about 20 basis 
points in 2018 and the discount rate for the 
liability thus declined during the year. Changes 
in market interest rates affect Länsförsäk-
ringar Liv’s earnings since future commit-
ments are discounted with the market inte-
rest rate. However, the company can largely 
protect itself from interest-rate changes im-
pacting earnings by matching assets and lia-
bilities against each other. Apart from falling 
market interest rates, discounting was nega-
tively impacted by the Ultimate Forward Rate 

(UFR) being lowered by 0.15% from 4.2% to 
4.05%. The UFR affects the discounting of 
liabilities with terms of more than ten years. 
In total, falling interest rates, negative inte-
rest rates and a lower UFR had a negative 
impact of SEK -0.9 billion on profit for 2018. 

Liabilities to policyholders declined SEK 
5.0 billion (2.0) during the year, primarily due 
to negative cash flows as a result of payouts 
and external transfers exceeding premium 
payments. 

Operating expenses declined to SEK 412 
M (417). 

Investment income was positive for Old 
Trad and negative for New Trad and New 
World, and totalled SEK -0.5 billion (5.5). 

Länsförsäkringar Liv is operated accor-
ding to mutual principles and is not consoli-
dated in Länsförsäkringar AB. 

Capital situation 
Länsförsäkringar Liv’s capital situation is ex-
pressed and measured in accordance with 
Solvency II as a ratio of own funds in relation 
to risk-based capital requirement. Länsför-
säkringar Liv’s solvency ratio on 31 Decem-
ber 2018 was 200% (207). The decline in the 
solvency ratio was primarily the result of own 
funds falling slightly during the year due to 
weaker capital markets in the fourth quarter. 

Collective consolidation is calculated as 
the ratio between total capital and insurance 
capital. Collective consolidation on 31 De-
cember 2018 amounted to 105% (117) in New 
Trad and 124% (123) in Old Trad. 

Länsförsäkringar Liv’s traditional 
management
Länsförsäkringar Liv, which is closed for new 
business, conducts traditional life assurance 
for its customers divided into four portfolios: 
New Trad, Old Trad, New World and Insured 
Pension. Total managed assets amounted to 
SEK 109 billion (115) on 31 December 2018. 

New Trad 
Customers in Old Trad, New World and Insured 
Pension are offered the opportunity to tran-
sition their existing insurance policies to New 
Trad for which lower guarantees enable gre-
ater flexibility in asset management. Mana-
ged assets in New Trad amounted to SEK 22 
billion (21). Investments as per 31 December 
2018 comprised 59% interest-bearing invest-
ments, 34% equities, 5% alternative invest-
ments and 2% properties. The investment 
mix and the risk in the investment portfolio 
were relatively unchanged in 2018. 

The investment return was -0.6% (6.4). 
Interest-bearing investments, properties and 
alternative investments contributed positively 
to the return, while equities contributed nega-

tively. The average return has been 4,9% per 
year since the start in 2013. 

The bonus rate on 31 December 2018 was 
5% (6). The bonus rate was lowered from 6% 
to 5% on 1 October 2018. In connection with 
this, an extra bonus of 5% was allotted. The 
average bonus rate has been 7,1% per year 
since the start in 2013. The bonus rate for 
New Trad was lowered from 5% to 3% on 1 
January 2019. 

Old Trad 
In Old Trad, Länsförsäkringar Liv manages 
assets of SEK 77 billion (81) on behalf of its 
customers. The primary aim of risk-taking in 
the Old Trad investment portfolio is to ensu-
re that the guaranteed bonus can also be re-
alised in the event of a negative market 
trend. At the same time, balanced risk-taking 
is applied to facilitate a reasonable return on 
customers’ savings. 

Investments in Old Trad on 31 December 
2018 comprised 88% interest-bearing secu-
rities, 6% equities and the remainder was 
property and alternative investments. The 
total risk level in Old Trad declined slightly 
during the year. The percentage of equities 
fell in favour of interest-bearing investments. 

Investment return amounted to 0.9% (2.7). 
The bonus rate on 31 December 2018 was 

3% (2). The bonus rate was raised from 2% to 
3% on 1 September 2018. 

New World 
New World is a traditional insurance policy 
whereby customers benefit from changes in 
value in the equities market, while at the 
same time are guaranteed to recoup over 
time at least the premiums paid, after de-
ductions for expenses and yield tax. Managed 
assets amounted to SEK 10 billion (12). 

The investment mix for the New World 
management form can vary within defined 
intervals, with the percentage of equities 
comprising 60–80% and the remainder com-
prising interest-bearing investments. The 
percentage of equities on 31 December 2018 
was 66%. The percentage of equities fell 4 
percentage points in November. 

The investment return was -7.8% (13.3). 

Insured Pension 
Managed assets in Insured Pension amoun-
ted to SEK 1.0 billion (1.9). In 2018, Insured 
Pension customers were invited to transfer 
to New Trad. This offer was well received and 
a total of more than SEK 800 M in customer 
capital was transferred to New Trad.
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Real-estate brokerage

Through Länsförsäkringar Fastighets-
förmedling, Länsförsäkringar offers 
a total solution for reliable mortgage 
transactions: real-estate brokerage, 
banking and insurance services all 
in one company. Real-estate bro-
kerage is also a key customer me-
eting for sales of mortgages and 
insurance.
Länsförsäkringar Fastighetsförmedling has 
165 branches throughout Sweden. The num-
ber of employees increased 11% to 816 in 

2018, 579 of whom are estate agents. Läns-
försäkringar Fastighetsförmedling is the 
third largest brokerage in the market and 
Sweden’s fastest growing estate-agent 
chain, and for the third consecutive year had 
the most satisfied customers according to 
the Swedish Quality Index’s 2018 customer 
satisfaction survey for the estate-agent 
 industry. 

The real-estate brokerage is an integrated 
part of the local regional insurance compa-
nies’ full-service offering. The aim is to offer 
more than just the brokerage and sale of re-
sidential properties. The operations are con-
ducted in franchise form, whereby the regio-
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nal insurance companies act as the 
franchiser and principal for the local bran-
ches. This also means that Länsförsäkringar 
Fastighetsförmedling differs from other na-
tional estate-agent chains by always being 
locally based.

In 2018, Länsförsäkringar Fastighetsför-
medling’s sales represented the highest mar-
ket share in the company’s history. Between 
January and December, the market share in-
creased from 11.5% to 12.2% for single-family 
homes and from 9.6% to 10.3% for te-
nant-owned apartments, which was also the 
largest increase in the industry*. 

A total of 21,790 properties were broke-
red in 2018, of which 11,643 (11,893) te-
nant-owned apartments and 9,168 (8,769) 
single-family homes. Commission income 
amounted to SEK 890 M (898). The reason 
that commission income was relatively un-
changed despite the higher market share 
was the uncertainty in the housing market 
with fewer properties brokered than in the 
preceding year. The total sales value for the 
period amounted to SEK 47.3 billion (48.7). 
The total market for single-family homes 
declined during the year, with the number of 
land registration certificates totalling 71,039 
(71,472). 

Sales of single-family homes resulted in 
SEK 4.0 billion (3.5) in first-lien mortgages in 
Länsförsäkringar’s mortgage institution, divi-
ded between 1,812 (1,766) transactions. A 
corresponding volume was generated for te-
nant-owned apartments. 
* Statistics for market shares for single-family homes are based 
on Värderingsdata’s list of land registration certificates (rolling 12 
months). The corresponding figures for tenant-owned apartments 
are based on tenant-owned apartments removed from Hemnet 
(2018 calendar year).

Länsförsäkringar offers real-estate brokerage through Länsförsäkringar Fastighetsförmedling. The operations are conducted in franchise form, whereby the regional 
insurance companies act as franchisers for the 165 local branches across Sweden.

Market shares and number of single-family  
homes brokered 2018*
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Länsförsäkringar Fastighetsförmedling’s market 
share of single-family homes brokered*

 Fastighetsbyrån 26.5% (18,793)

 Svensk Fastighetsförmedling 14.5% (10,326)

 Länsförsäkringar Fastighetsförmedling 12.2% (8,680)

 Mäklarhuset 4.9% (3,513)

 SkandiaMäklarna 4.3% (3,075)

 Bjurfors 3.7% (2,638)

 HusmanHagberg 3.3% (2,315)

 ERA 1.5% (1,037)

 Mäklarringen 1.3% (904)

 Hemverket 1.1% (795)

 Other brokers and private 26.7% (18,963)

 Market share, %
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Earnings
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Operating profit for the Länsförsäkringar AB Group

The Länsförsäkringar AB Group’s operating 
profit was SEK 2,351 M (2,825). The return on 
equity was 9% (11). 

The Länsförsäkringar Sak Group’s opera-
ting profit amounted to SEK 460 M (1,028). 
The change in earnings was primarily due to 
SEK 260 M in positive remuneration in the 
first quarter of 2017 for the accident and 
health insurance business transferred to the 
regional insurance companies, and signifi-
cantly positive run-off gains in 2017 from 
claims reserves in prior years. Premiums 
earned after ceded reinsurance rose 5% to 
SEK 5,891 M (5,623). The combined ratio 
amounted to 94% (88). 

The Bank Group’s operating profit amoun-
ted to SEK 1,510 M (1,599). Earnings were im-
pacted by non-recurring items of SEK 407 M 
related to the final stage of the replacement 
of the bank’s IT platform. Net interest inco-
me rose 13% to SEK 4,497 M (3,996) mainly as 
a result of increased volumes. 

Operating profit for Länsförsäkringar 
Fondliv increased to SEK 673 M (600). Net 
flow of premiums and capital in 2018 was a 
positive SEK 2,444 M (3,225). However, due to 
the negative return resulting from the unfa-

vourable stock-market sentiment at year-
end, total managed assets declined to SEK 
126 billion (128) on 31 December 2018. 

The Länsförsäkringar AB Group’s invest-
ment return attributable to the insurance 
operations’ and Parent Company’s assets 
amounted to 2.5% (4.3). Properties, which to-
talled 26% (23) of the investment assets at 
the end of the year, yielded a high return 
during the year, contributing 3.9 percentage 
points (2.8) to the investment return. This 
was mainly driven by positive changes in the 
market value of property holdings. In the fix-
ed-income portfolio, which contributed a to-
tal of –0.2 of a percentage point (0.7) to the 
investment return, mainly wider US credit 
spreads and rising US interest rates made 
the most negative contribution. Equities 
made a negative contribution of -0.8 of a 
percentage point (1.0) to the investment re-
turn in the period. Currencies also made a 
negative contribution of -0.4 of a percentage 
point (-0.2). The negative contribution was 
mainly attributable to costs for protecting 
the exposure of the portfolio in US holdings. 

Capital situation 
The Länsförsäkringar AB Group’s equity in-
creased SEK 1,123 M in the second half of 
2018 to SEK 26,867 M. 

The Länsförsäkringar AB Group is a financial 
conglomerate. The Group’s companies are 
encompassed by group solvency regulations 
in accordance with legislation on financial 
conglomerates, legislation on insurance ope-
rations and legislation on banking operations. 

At 31 December 2018, surplus capital for 
the Länsförsäkringar AB Group under the ru-
les on financial conglomerates was SEK 10.0 
billion, down SEK 0.8 billion during the half-
year. Own funds amounted to SEK 43.9 bil-
lion and the capital requirement to SEK 33.9 

billion. The capital situation under the rules 
on insurance operations commensurated 
with the capital situation under the rules on 
financial conglomerates on 31 December 
2018. The decline in surplus capital in the 
Länsförsäkringar AB Group was primarily 
due to a decrease in Länsförsäkringar Fond-
liv’s solvency ratio to 135% (152) on 31 De-
cember 2018. The solvency ratio fell due to 
the negative market trend at the end of 2018 
and a renewed long-term service agreement 
with Länsförsäkringar Liv. 

The Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio for 
consolidated situation* (the group encom-
passed by the group rules for banking opera-
tions) was 15.7% at year-end 2018. The appli-
cation of the risk weight floor for Swedish 
mortgages was changed on 31 December 
2018 following a decision by the Swedish Fi-
nancial Supervisory Authority. This means 
that capital ratios will decline from this peri-
od. The surplus capital in relation to regula-
tory requirements calculated in SEK is not 
impacted by this change in method. 

The capital situation of Länsförsäkringar 
AB’s directly owned consolidated subsidia-
ries is shown in the following table. 

Capital situation of subsidiaries

31 Dec 2018 30 Jun 2018 31 Dec 2017

Länsförsäkringar Sak  
Försäkrings AB

Solvency ratio, % 228 233 221

Länsförsäkringar Fondliv  
Försäkrings AB

Solvency ratio, % 135 151 152

Länsförsäkringar  
Bank Group

Common Equity 
Tier 1 capital ratio, % 14.2** 25.9 24.3

*  The Länsförsäkringar Bank Group consolidated with Länsförsäk-
ringar AB and the property company Utile Dulci 2 HB.

**   As of 31 December 2018, the application of the risk weight floor 
for Swedish mortgages changed, which consequently reduces 
the capital ratios from this period.

Länsförsäkringar AB

 • The Länsförsäkringar AB Group’s operating profit was SEK 2,351 M (2,825). The return on equity was 9% (11).

 • The Länsförsäkringar AB Group’s equity amounted to SEK 26,867 M.

 • Operating profit for the Länsförsäkringar Sak Group amounted to SEK 460 M (1,028). Premiums earned after ceded 
reinsurance rose 5% to SEK 5,891 M (5,623). The combined ratio amounted to 94% (88).

 • Net sales for the Parent Company increased to SEK 3,235 M (2,948).

The year in brief Figures in parentheses pertain to the same period in 2017.

Länsförsäkringar AB and its subsidiaries are commissioned by the regional insurance companies to conduct joint banking and insurance operations, pursue strategic 
development activities and provide service in areas that generate economies of scale and efficiency. Länsförsäkringar AB’s non-life insurance business is divided into 
the following three business areas: Agria (pet and crop insurance), Health and Reinsurance and Special Insurance.
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Non-life insurance
Länsförsäkringar AB’s non-life insurance bu-
siness primarily comprises health, pet and 
crop insurance, some cargo, liability, proper-
ty and motor insurance as well as internatio-
nal reinsurance. Länsförsäkringar Sak also 
manages the Länsförsäkringar Alliance’s joint 
reinsurance cover. 

Operating profit for the Länsförsäkringar 
Sak Group amounted to SEK 460 M (1,028) 
and the combined ratio increased to 94% 
(88). The technical result for insurance ope-
rations amounted to SEK 402 M (977). Claims 
payments after ceded reinsurance amounted 
to SEK 4,196 M (3,764) and the claims ratio in-
creased to 71% (67). The expense ratio was 
22% (21). 

The year-on-year change in earnings was 
primarily due to positive remuneration of 
SEK 260 M in the first quarter of 2017, reco-
gnised as other income, for the part of the 
accident and health insurance business that 
was transferred from Länsförsäkringar Sak 
to the regional insurance companies. In ad-
dition, earnings in the preceding year inclu-
ded significantly positive run-off gains on 
claims reserves in prior years. Run-off gains 
were also positive in 2018, with varying ef-
fects in different business lines, but at a 
lower level than in 2017. Claims costs exclu-
ding run-off gains increased slightly in 2018, 
mainly due to the decline in earnings in acci-
dent insurance. Impairment of intangible as-
sets contributed to the change in expense 
ratio. 

Premiums earned after ceded reinsuran-
ce rose 5% to SEK 5,891 M (5,623). Premiums 
earned increased despite the regional insu-
rance companies renewing accident and 
health insurance policies for adults from 
2017. Of the non-life insurance operations’ 
three business areas, growth was highest in 
Agria where the premium volume increased 
in all business lines, with the highest growth 
in the international branches.

Agria
Agria’s technical result amounted to SEK 224 
M (279). Agria reported strong but slightly 
weaker earnings compared with the prece-
ding year. This was mainly the result of esta-
blishing the branch that was opened in Fran-
ce in spring 2018 and lower run-off gains. 
Agria’s largest business line in terms of volu-
me – Swedish pet insurance – continued to 
deliver stable earnings, but with slightly hig-
her claims costs year-on-year. Earnings in 
the UK continued to trend positively, while 
claims costs in Norway and Denmark were 
slightly higher than in the preceding year. 

Health 
The technical result amounted to SEK 96 M 
(461). The change in earnings was primarily 
due to earnings in the preceding year inclu-
ding significantly positive run-off gains. Ear-
nings for the part of the health insurance bu-
siness that was not transferred to the 
regional insurance companies in 2017 impro-
ved as a result of premium adjustments and 
a review of product conditions. Earnings for 
health care insurance were also stronger 
year-on-year. However, earnings for acci-
dent insurance declined due to higher claims 
costs in the current year and strengthened 
reserves for claims in prior years. 

Reinsurance and Special
The technical result for Reinsurance and 
Special Insurance amounted to SEK 84 M (9). 
Earnings for liability insurance improved, 
mainly due to earnings in the preceding year 
including high run-off losses. Internationally 
assumed reinsurance reported high claims 
costs, for example, from fires in California 
and the Japanese Typhoon Jebi. Earnings for 
the Länsförsäkringar Alliance’s internal rein-
surance, to which Länsförsäkringar Sak 
contributes a 15% share of assumed reinsu-
rance, were impacted by increased claims 
costs, primarily from the forest fires and 
flooding in the summer, but earnings were 
nevertheless stronger than in the preceding 
year as a result of positive run-off gains.
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Technical result for Länsförsäkringar Sak Group

The Länsförsäkringar Sak Group’s invest-
ment return amounted to 3.8% (4.5). Proper-
ties, which at the end of 2018 totalled 32% 
(27) of investment assets, contributed 4.9 
percentage points (3.6) to the investment re-
turn, mainly driven by positive changes in 
market value. The fixed-income portfolio, 
which has a short duration, made a negative 
contribution of -0.1 of a percentage point 
(0.9), mainly due to wider US credit spreads 

and rising US interest rates. The equities 
portfolio made a negative contribution of 
-0.5 of a percentage point (0.3). Currencies 
contributed a negative -0.5 of a percentage 
point (-0.2) to the investment return, prima-
rily from costs for protecting the exposure 
of the portfolio in US holdings. 

Bank
Operating profit for the Länsförsäkringar Bank 
Group, which is part of the Länsförsäkringar 
AB Group, amounted to SEK 1,510 M (1,599). 
Earnings were impacted by non-recurring 
items of SEK 407 M related to the final stage 
of the replacement of the bank’s IT platform. 
Net interest income rose 13% to SEK 4,497 M 
(3,996) mainly as a result of increased volumes. 
More information about Länsförsäkringar 
Bank is available on pages 6-7. 

Unit-linked insurance
Operating profit for Länsförsäkringar Fondliv 
increased to SEK 673 M (600). Net flow of 
premiums and capital in 2018 was a positive 
SEK 2,444 M (3,225). However, due to the ne-
gative return resulting from the unfavoura-
ble stock-market sentiment at year-end, to-
tal managed assets declined to SEK 126 
billion (128) on 31 December 2018. More in-
formation about Länsförsäkringar Fondliv is 
available on pages 8-9.  

Parent Company 
Profit after financial items for the Länsför-
säkringar AB Group’s Parent Company 
amounted to SEK 1,328 M (1,638). Profit was 
positively impacted by dividends and Group 
contributions of SEK 850 M (750) from Läns-
försäkringar Fondliv and SEK 460 M (500) 
from Länsförsäkringar Sak. Net sales increa-
sed to SEK 3,235 M (2,948). 

Earnings for Länsförsäkringar AB Group 
Jul-Dec 2018 compared with Jan-Jun 2018
Operating profit for the Länsförsäkringar AB 
Group amounted to SEK 975 M (1,376). 

Operating profit for the Länsförsäkringar 
Sak Group totalled SEK 167 M (295). The 
technical result fell to SEK 184 M (218), pri-
marily due to lower run-off gains on prior 
years’ business compared with the first half 
of the year and higher operating expenses 
for reasons including the impairment of in-
tangible assets. The combined ratio amoun-
ted to 94% (93). Premiums earned after ce-
ded reinsurance amounted to SEK 3,008 M 
(2,884). The investment return was lower in 
the second half of the year compared with 
the first half, mainly due to the negative per-
formance of the equity portfolio. 

Länsförsäkringar Alliance 
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The Bank Group’s operating profit amounted 
to SEK 622 M (888). Net interest income 
amounted to SEK 2,304 M (2,193). Earnings 
were impacted by non-recurring items of SEK 
407 M related to the final stage of the repla-
cement of the bank’s IT platform.

Operating profit for Länsförsäkringar 
Fondliv increased to SEK 385 M (288). In the 
first half of the year, operating profit was ne-
gatively impacted by an impairment of slight-
ly more than SEK 100 M in connection with 
the introduction of a new model for capitali-
sation and depreciation of deferred acquisi-
tion costs. Total managed assets declined to 
SEK 126 billion (135) on 31 December 2018. 
The decline was due to a negative return re-
sulting from the unfavourable stock-market 
sentiment at year-end. 

Profit after financial items for the Parent 
Company amounted to SEK 32 M (1,297). Pro-
fit was mainly affected by Group contribu-
tions of SEK 150 M (1,310) and impairment of 
intangible assets of SEK 61 M (0). 

Other events 
Fredrik Bergström took office as the new 
President and CEO of Länsförsäkringar AB 
on 10 September 2018. 

Risks and uncertainty factors  
of the operations 
The Länsförsäkringar AB Group’s banking 
and insurance operations give rise to various 
types of risks, with the most prominent risks 
comprising credit risk in the Bank Group and 
insurance and market risks in the non-life 
and unit-linked insurance companies. Along-
side these risks, focus on cyber risks and cli-
mate risks has been intensified over time. 

Credit risk in the Länsförsäkringar Bank 
Group is primarily affected by the economic 
situation in Sweden since all loans are gran-
ted locally. The Bank Group is also exposed 
to liquidity risk and a certain level of market 
risk. Credit losses remain low and the refi-

nancing of business activities is highly satis-
factory. A settlement model has been app-
lied since 2014 regarding the commitment 
that the regional insurance companies have 
for credit losses related to the business they 
have originated. The model entails that the 
regional insurance companies cover 80% of 
the provision requirement on the date when 
an impairment is identified, by off-setting 
this against a buffer of accrued commission. 

Market risks primarily arise in Länsför-
säkringar Fondliv on the basis of indirect ex-
posure to market risk, since future income in 
the unit-linked insurance operations is de-
pendent on trends in the financial market. 
Länsförsäkringar Sak’s market risk is less ex-
tensive and is predominantly attributable to 
the company’s investment assets. 

Life-assurance risks primarily comprise 
cancellation risk in Länsförsäkringar Fondliv, 
meaning the risk of lower future fee income 
due to customers moving their insurance to 
paid-up policies or transferring them to 
another insurance company. 

Non-life insurance risks arise on the basis 
of business in Länsförsäkringar Sak, which 
conducts highly diverse business operations 
ranging from cargo insurance and reinsuran-
ce to pet insurance in the subsidiary Agria. 
These risks are reinsured to a high extent. 

The risks that arise directly in the Parent 
Company Länsförsäkringar AB are primarily 
attributable to the company’s investments in 
liquidity and the business-support opera-
tions conducted on behalf of the subsidiaries 
and the regional insurance companies. 

Cyber risks arise in the use and transfer 
of digital data in the operations. Climate 
risks arising from climate change can direct-
ly or indirectly increase other risks, for ex-
ample, by increasing insurance claims, finan-
cial losses or damage to the brand. 
Länsförsäkringar AB and its insurance subsi-
diaries have permission from the Swedish Fi-
nancial Supervisory Authority to calculate 

the capital requirement for insurance opera-
tions using a partial internal model. Capital 
requirements for most market risks, non-life 
insurance risks and health-insurance risks 
are calculated using an internal model, whe-
reas other types of risk are calculated by 
applying the standard formula. Länsförsäk-
ringar Bank also has approval from the Fi-
nancial Supervisory Authority to use the In-
ternal Ratings Based Approach (IRB 
Approach) for credit risk measurement for 
calculating the capital requirement. 

The risks that the Group and Parent 
Company are exposed to have not changed 
materially since 31 December 2017. A more 
detailed description of these, and how they 
are managed, is presented in the 2017 Annual 
Report in Group note 2 Risk and capital ma-
nagement. 

The results of the operations during the peri-
od and the financial position of the Länsför-
säkringar AB Group and the Parent Company 
at 31 December 2018 are presented in the 
following financial statements with accom-
panying notes.
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Income statement for Länsförsäkringar Alliance non-life insurance

SEK M
Jan-Dec 

2018
Jul-Dec 

2018
Jan-Jun 

2018
Jan-Dec 

2017

Premiums earned after ceded reinsurance 26,752 13,616 13,136 25,504

Investment income transferred from financial operations 429 185 244 356

Claims payments after ceded reinsurance –20,210 –10,046 –10,164 –18,571

Operating expenses –5,102 –2,570 –2,532 –4,629

Other technical revenue/expenses –88 –58 –30 –130

Technical result for non-life insurance operations  
before bonuses and discounts 1,781 1,126 655 2,529

Bonuses and discounts –794 –637 –157 –1,798

Technical result for non-life insurance operations  
after bonuses and discounts 986 489 497 731

Total investment income 1,773 –2,098 3,871 6,969

Investment income transferred to insurance operations –584 –234 –350 –434

Other non-technical revenue/expenses 99 47 52 –189

Operating profit for the period 2,275 –1,796 4,071 7,078

Balance Sheet for Länsförsäkringar Alliance non-life insurance

SEK M
31 December 

2018
31 December 

2017

ASSETS

Shares and participations 42,106 42,381

Bonds and other interest-bearing securities 30,393 29,475

Other investment assets 32,306 29,573

Total investment assets 104,806 101,429

Reinsurers’ portion of technical provisions 10,507 10,447

Receivables and other assets 13,810 11,147

Cash and bank balances 4,480 5,340

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 1,534 1,548

TOTAL ASSETS 135,137 129,911

EQUITY, PROVISIONS AND LIABILITIES

Equity 59,381 54,950

Technical provisions (before ceded reinsurance) 57,628 57,114

Other provisions and liabilities 15,069 14,748

Accrued expenses and deferred income 3,058 3,100

TOTAL EQUITY, PROVISIONS AND LIABILITIES 135,137 129,911

Länsförsäkringar Alliance non-life insurance 
Financial statements

The Länsförsäkringar Alliance comprises 23 local and customerowned  regional insurance companies and the jointly owned Länsförsäkringar AB. The Länsför-
säkringar Alliance is not a Group in the legal sense of the term. Most of the non-life insurance business in the Alliance is underwritten by the regional insurance 
companies. The business conducted by Länsförsäkringar AB’s non-life insurance Group comprises health insurance, animal insurance, ceded and assumed 
reinsurance as well as marine and cargo insurance and some casualty, property and motor insurance. Earnings from the Länsförsäkringar Alliance’s non-life  
insurance operations consist of the total earnings of the 23 regional insurance companies and the non-life insurance operations of the Länsförsäkringar AB 
Group. The earnings for the Parent Company Länsförsäkringar AB is also included. The holdings and change in value in the Länsförsäkringar AB share and trans-
actions between the regional insurance companies and the Länsförsäkringar AB Group have been eliminated. The 23 regional insurance companies and  
the Länsförsäkringar AB Group apply the approved International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
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Key figures for Länsförsäkringar AB Group

SEK M
Jan-Dec 

2018
Jul-Dec 

2018
Jan-Jun 

2018
Jan-Dec 

2017

Group

Operating profit 2,351 975 1,376 2,825

Net profit for the period 2,190 1,071 1,119 2,250

Return on equity, % 1) 9 8 11 11

Total assets, SEK billion 507 507 510 474

Equity per share, SEK 2) 2,462 2,462 2,355 2,269

Solvency capital 3) 29,573 29,573 28,672 27,740

Solvency margin, % 4) 479 479 476 467

Own funds for the group 5) 43,870 43,870 45,988 44,172

Solvency capital requirement for the group 5) 33,874 33,874 35,182 33,441

Own funds for the financial conglomerate 6) 43,870 43,870 45,988 44,172

Capital requirement for the financial conglomerate 6) 33,874 33,874 35,182 33,441

Insurance operation 7)

Non-life insurance operations

Premiums earned (after ceded reinsurance) 5,623 2,874 2,749 5,353

Investment income transferred from financial            
operations 23 12 10 26

Claims payments (after ceded reinsurance) 8) –3,666 –1,891 –1,775 –3,272

Technical result, non-life operations 344 155 189 916

Premium income, non-life insurance

Premium income before ceded reinsurance 7,302 2,370 4,932 7,124

Premium income after ceded reinsurance 5,703 2,342 3,361 5,498

Life-assurance operations

Premium income (after ceded reinsurance) 510 178 332 477

Fees pertaining to financial agreements 755 376 379 724

Investment income, net –133 –135 2 121

Claims payments (after ceded reinsurance) –271 –108 –163 –266

Technical result, life-assurance operations 734 417 317 700

Operating profit for insurance operations 9) 1,130 549 580 1,628

Key figures

Cost ratio 10) 29 29 29 27

Expense ratio 11) 23 23 22 21

Claims ratio 12) 72 72 71 67

Combined ratio 94 95 93 88

Management cost ratio, life-assurance operations 13) 0.9 0.9 0.9 0.9

Direct yield, % 14) 1.1 0.6 0.5 –0.2

Total return, % 15) 1.5 –0.4 1.9 4.3

Financial position

Investment assets, SEK billion 16) 14 14 14 14

Unit-linked insurance assets – policyholder bears the risk, SEK billion 122 122 132 125

Technical provisions (after ceded reinsurance), SEK billion 9 9 9 8

Länsförsäkringar AB Group
Key figures
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Key figures for Länsförsäkringar AB Group, cont.

SEK M
Jan-Dec 

2018
Jul-Dec 

2018
Jan-Jun 

2018
Jan-Dec 

2017

Banking operation

Net interest income 4,497 2,304 2,193 3,996

Operating profit 1,510 622 888 1,599

Net profit for the period 1,182 490 692 1,237

Return on equity, % 17) 8.3 6.6 10.3 10.0

Total assets, SEK billion 350 350 343 315

Equity 16,106 16,106 15,674 14,328

Cost/income ratio before loan losses 18) 0.58 0.66 0.48 0.49

Investment margin, % 19) 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.32

Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio Bank Group, % 14.2 23) 14.2 23) 25.9 24.3

Tier 1 ratio Bank Group, % 20) 15.5 23) 15.5 23) 28.3 26.8

Total capital ratio Bank Group, % 21) 18.2 23) 18.2 23) 33.5 32.1

Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio consolidated situation, % 15.7 23) 15.7 23) 24.7 23.3

Tier 1 ratio consolidated situation, % 20) 16.5 23) 16.5 23) 26.1 24.8

Total capital ratio consolidated situation, % 21) 18.3 23) 18.3 23) 29.0 28.1

Credit loss level, % 22) 0.04 0.03 0.04 0.02

1)  Operating profit and revaluations of owner-occupied property less 
standard tax at 22.0% in relation to average equity, adjusted for items in 
equity recognised in other comprehensive income excluding revaluations of 
owner-occupied property, and adjusted for Additional Tier 1 Capital loans.

2)  Equity adjusted for Additional Tier 1 Capital loan per share.

3)  Total of shareholders’ equity, adjusted for Additional Tier 1 Capital loans, 
subordinated loan and deferred taxes. 

4)  Solvency capital as a percentage of full-year premium income after ceded 
reinsurance.

5)  The group under the insurance-operation rules comprises the Parent 
Company Länsförsäkringar AB, all of the insurance companies in the Group, 
Länsförsäkringar Bank AB, Wasa Kredit AB, Länsförsäkringar Hypotek AB 
and Länsförsäkringar Fondförvaltning AB. Länsförsäkringar Liv Försäkrings 
AB is also included in the group, despite the company not being consoli-
dated in the Länsförsäkringar AB Group. As stated in the EU Solvency II 
Directive, the calculations are made in accordance with the consolidation 
method, but with Länsförsäkringar Liv included in accordance with the 
deduction and aggregation method as permitted by the Swedish Financial 
Supervisory Authority. 

6)  The financial conglomerate comprises the same companies as the group 
according to the insurance-operation rules, see footnote 5). The calcula-
tions for the financial conglomerate are made using the same methods as 
for the group in accordance with the insurance-operation rules. Unlike the 
group under the insurance-operation rules, the transferability of profits for 
the financial conglomerate is to also be tested in other regulated companies 
than the group’s insurance companies.

7)  The earnings, key figures and financial position of the insurance operations 
are presented in accordance with the Swedish Annual Accounts Act for 
Insurance Companies and Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority’s direc-
tives and general guidelines FFFS 2015:12.

8) Excluding claims adjustment costs.

9)  The operating profit of the insurance operations includes the Länsförsäk-
ringar Sak Group’s and Länsförsäkringar Fondliv’s investment income and 
other non-technical income and expenses.

10)  Operating expenses and claims adjustment costs as a percentage of pre-
miums earned after ceded reinsurance. Pertains only to non-life insurance.

11)  Operating expenses as a percentage of premiums earned after ceded rein-
surance. Pertains only to non-life insurance. Excluding claims adjustment 
costs in accordance with the regulation of the Swedish Financial Supervi-
sory Authority.

12)  Claims payments as a percentage of premiums earned after ceded rein-
surance. Pertains only to non-life insurance. Includes claims adjustment 
costs in accordance with the regulation of the Swedish Financial Supervi-
sory Authority.

13)  Operating expenses and claims adjustment costs in relation to the average 
value of investment assets, investment assets for which the policyholder 
bears the investment risk and cash and cash equivalents.

14)  Direct yield refers to the total of rental income from properties, inte-
rest income, interest expenses, dividends on shares and participations, 
administration costs for asset management and operating expenses for 
properties in relation to the average value of the insurance operations’ 
investment assets and cash and bank balances for the period.

15)  Total return is calculated as the sum of direct yields and changes in the 
value of the investment portfolio in relation to the average value of the 
investment assets during the period. Pertains to non-life insurance and 
life-assurance.

16)  Investment assets comprise owner-occupied property, shares and parti-
cipations in associated companies, shares and participations, bonds and 
other interest-bearing securities, derivatives (assets and liabilities), cash 
and cash equivalents, and interest-bearing libilities.

17)  Operating profit after standard tax at 22.0% in relation to average equity, 
adjusted for changes in value of financial assets recognised in equity. 

18)  Total expenses before loan losses in relation to total income.

19)  Net interest income in relation to average total assets.

20)  Tier 1 capital in relation to the total risk exposure amount.

21)  Total own funds in relation to the total risk exposure amount.

22)  Credit losses, net, for loan receivables in relation to loans to the public and 
credit institutions after loss allowance.

23)  As of 31 December 2018, the application of the risk weight floor for 
Swedish mortgages changed, which consequently reduces the capital 
ratios for the current period.
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Consolidated income statement for Länsförsäkringar AB Group

SEK M
Jan-Dec 

2018
Jul-Dec 

2018
Jan-Jun 

2018
Jan-Dec 

2017

Premiums earned before ceded reinsurance 7,690 3,797 3,893 7,420

Reinsurers’ portion of premiums earned –1,590 –758 –832 –1,618

Premiums earned after ceded reinsurance 6,100 3,039 3,061 5,802

Interest income 5,229 2,675 2,554 4,566

Interest expense –729 –370 –359 –573

Net interest income 4,500 2,305 2,195 3,994

Change in unit-linked insurance assets – policyholder bears the risk –4,539 –10,208 5,669 10,177

Dividends in unit-linked insurance assets – policyholder bears the risk 8 8 – 6

Investment income, net -26 –132 106 295

Commission income 2,937 1,501 1,436 2,987

Other operating income 2,346 1,271 1,075 2,466

Total operating income 11,327 –2,215 13,542 25,726

Claims payments before ceded reinsurance –4,769 –2,532 –2,238 –4,368

Reinsurers’ portion of claims payments 854 542 312 851

Claims payments after ceded reinsurance –3,915 –1,990 –1,925 –3,517

Change in life-assurance provision –9 72 –81 –8

Change in unit-linked insurance liabilities – policyholder bears the risk 4,668 10,336 –5,668 –10,352

Commission expense –3,216 –1,605 –1,611 –3,239

Staff costs –2,228 –1,080 –1,148 –2,060

Other administration expenses –4,182 –2,497 –1,685 –3,667

Loan losses –95 –46 –49 –58

Total expenses –8,976 3,191 –12,166 –22,901

Operating profit 2,351 975 1,376 2,825

Tax –162 95 –257 –575

Net profit for the period 2,190 1,071 1,119 2,250

Earnings per share before and after dilution, SEK 210 103 107 216

Länsförsäkringar AB Group
Financial statements
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for Länsförsäkringar AB Group 

SEK M
Jan-Dec 

2018
Jul-Dec 

2018
Jan-Jun 

2018
Jan-Dec 

2017

Net profit for the period 2,190 1,071 1,119 2,250

Other comprehensive income

Items that have been transferred or can be transferred to profit for 
the period

Translation differences attributable to foreign operations 4 –16 20 –5

Cash-flow hedges –58 14 –72 –115

Change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets –50 –61 11 51

Tax attributable to items that have been transferred or can be  
transferred to profit for the period 24 10 13 14

Total –80 –52 –27 –55

Items that cannot be transferred to profit for the period

Revaluation of owner-occupied property 393 149 244 211

Revaluation of defined-benefit pension plans – – – 3

Change in fair value of equity instruments measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income –10 –7 –3 –

Tax attributable to items that cannot be reversed to profit for the period –74 –21 –54 –47

Total 309 122 187 167

Total other comprehensive income for the period, net after tax 229 70 159 113

Comprehensive income for the period 2,418 1,140 1,278 2,362

Consolidated statement of financial position for Länsförsäkringar AB Group

SEK M 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017

ASSETS

Goodwill 542 538

Other intangible assets 4,200 4,304

Deferred tax assets 122 47

Property and equipment 55 44

Owner-occupied property 3,232 2,887

Shares in Länsförsäkringar Liv Försäkrings AB 8 8

Shares and participations in associated companies 54 48

Reinsurers’ portion of technical provisions 10,553 10,475

Loans to the public 289,426 261,444

Unit-linked insurance assets – policyholder bears the risk 122,340 124,730

Shares and participations 2,700 2,570

Bonds and other interest-bearing securities 43,950 44,008

Treasury bills and other eligible bills 10,847 10,531

Derivatives 6,090 5,182

Change in value of hedge portfolios 125 248

Other receivables 4,537 3,576

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 1,977 1,936

Cash and cash equivalents 6,075 1,196

TOTAL ASSETS 506,835 473,773

SEK M 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Share capital 1,042 1,042

Other capital contributed 10,272 10,272

Additional Tier 1 instruments 1,200 1,200

Reserves 697 948

Retained earnings including profit for the period 13,656 11,394

Total equity 26,867 24,857

Subordinated liabilities 2,593 2,596

Technical provisions 19,465 18,903

Unit-linked insurance liabilities – policyholder bears the risk 123,135 125,583

Deferred tax liabilities 1,435 1,533

Other provisions 119 115

Debt securities in issue 210,304 187,870

Deposits from the public 106,854 98,197

Due to credit institutions 5,992 3,996

Derivatives 787 1,187

Change in value of hedge portfolios 1,058 1,200

Other liabilities 3,638 3,059

Accrued expenses and deferred income 4,587 4,676

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 506,835 473,773
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity for Länsförsäkringar AB Group

SEK M Share capital
Other capital 

contributed
Additional Tier 1  

instruments Reserves

Retained  
earnings  

including  
net profit for  

the period Total

Opening equity, 1 January 2017 1,042 10,272 1,200 835 9,179 22,529

Comprehensive income for the period – – – 113 2,250 2,363

Issued additional Tier 1 instruments – – – – –34 –34

Closing equity, 31 December 2017 1,042 10,272 1,200 948 11,394 24,857

Effect of the change in accounting policy¹ – – – –480 393 –87

Opening balance, 1 January 2018 after 
adjustment for change in accounting policy 1,042 10,272 1,200 468 11,787 24,770

Realised gain from sale of shares – – – – 13 13

Dividends paid – – – – –300 –300

Comprehensive income for the period – – – 159 1,119 1,278

Issued additional Tier 1 instruments – – – – –17 –17

Closing equity, 30 June 2018 1,042 10,272 1,200 628 12,602 25,745

Opening equity, 1 July 2018 1,042 10,272 1,200 628 12,602 25,745

Comprehensive income for the period – – – 70 1,071 1,140

Issued additional Tier 1 instruments – – – – –17 –17

Closing equity, 31 December 2018 1,042 10,272 1,200 697 13,656 26,867

¹Effect of the change in accounting policy from IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows for Länsförsäkringar AB Group

SEK M Jan–Dec 2018 Jan–Dec 2017

Operating activities

Operating profit 2,351 2,825

Adjustment for non-cash items 3,269 3,790

Tax paid –52 –215

Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital 5,114 6,400

Cash flow from changes in working capital

Change in shares and participations, bonds and other interest-bearing securities and derivatives –2,864 –7,625

Increase (–)/Decrease (+) in operating receivables –28,695 –36,612

Increase (+)/Decrease (–) in operating liabilities 11,201 8,195

Cash flow from operating activities –20,358 –29,642

Investing activities

Change in shares and participations in associated companies 3 –4

Investment in intangible assets –595 –673

Investment in property and equipment –34 –28

Divestment in property and equipment 8 8

Investment in owner-occupied property –37 –31

Cash flow from investing activities

Financing activities

Change in debt securities in issue 21,142 30,430

Dividends paid –300 –

Additional Tier 1 instruments –34 –34

Cash flow from financing activities 21,142 30,397

Net cash flow for the period 4,875 26

Cash and cash equivalents, 1 January 1,196 1,171

Exchange-rate differences in cash and cash equivalents 4 –1

Cash and cash equivalents, 31 December 6,075 1,196
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All figures in SEK M unless otherwise stated.

Note 1 Accounting policies

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared according to 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the Interna-
tional Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the interpretations of these 
standards issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee (IFRS IC) as adopted by the EU. In addition, the Swedish Annual 
Accounts Act for Insurance Companies (1995:1560) and regulation and ge-
neral guidelines FFFS 2015:12 of the Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority 
were applied. The Group also applies the Swedish Financial Reporting Board’s 
recommendation RFR 1 Supplementary Accounting Rules for Groups and 
statements (UFR). The interim report has been prepared in accordance with 
IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. 

CHANGES TO 2018 REPORTING 
From 1 January 2018, the Group applies the following accounting policies for 
the reporting of financial instruments (IFRS 9) and revenue from contracts 
with customers (IFRS 15). 

IFRS 9 Financial instruments 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments has replaced IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement and contains new requirements for the 
classification and measurement of financial instruments, an expected loss 
impairment model and simplified conditions for hedge accounting. 

Classification and measurement 
Financial assets are classified according to one of the three measurement 
categories: amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income 
or fair value through profit or loss, and are based on the Group’s business 
models for the management of financial assets and the contractual terms 
of the assets. The Group’s classification of financial assets and liabilities 
according to IFRS 9 and the differences compared with IAS 39 are presented 
in note 5.

The Group’s financial assets comprise: 
• Equity instruments 
• Derivative instruments 
• Debt instruments 

Equity instruments 
The equity instruments that exist in the Group are shares and participations. 
The Group has decided to apply the option in IFRS 9 entailing that strate-
gic investments are measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income. 

Gains or losses on the sale of equity instruments measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income are recognised as a reclassification in 
equity and do not impact the income statement. 

Derivative instruments 
Derivative instruments are measured at fair value through profit or loss 
unless they are subject to the rules on hedge accounting. Accordingly, IFRS 9 
does not entail any change in the recognition of derivative instruments. 

Debt instruments 
The business model used to manage a debt instrument and its contractual 
cash flow characteristics determines the classification of a debt instrument. 

If a debt instrument is held within a business model whose objective is 
to realise the instrument’s cash flows by obtaining contractual cash flows 

Länsförsäkringar AB Group
Notes to the consolidated financial statements

that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding, the instrument is measured at amortised cost. The Group has 
made the assessment that the business model for the receivables that were 
classified in the Loans and receivables category under IAS 39 meets the 
criteria for being classified at amortised cost according to IFRS 9. 

If the business model entails that the cash flows of the debt instrument 
are realised by both collecting contractual cash flows and by selling, the in-
strument is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. The 
conclusion is that the business model for the Bank Group’s holding of trea-
sury bills and other eligible bills, bonds and other interest-bearing securities 
corresponds to the criteria for being classified at fair value through other 
comprehensive income. These holdings were classified as Available-for-sale 
financial assets under IAS 39. 

Financial assets in insurance companies are measured according to IAS 
39 at fair value through profit or loss under the fair value option since the 
assets are managed and evaluated based on the fair values of the assets, and 
the fair values comprise the basis for the internal monitoring and reporting 
to senior executives. The Group’s financial assets held in a business model 
comprising the management and evaluation of its assets at fair value are 
measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

Gains or losses from the sale of debt instruments are recognised in profit 
and loss on the row investment income, net. 

Financial liabilities 
For financial liabilities, the rules in IFRS 9 are primarily the same as the rules 
in IAS 39, which are described in note 1 of the 2017 Annual Report. 

Hedge accounting
The Group has decided to apply the option entailing that the rules in IAS 39 
will continue to apply for all hedging relationships. The accounting policies 
for hedge accounting applied by the Group are detailed in note 1 of the 2017 
Annual Report. 

Expected credit losses 
A reserve for credit losses (“loss allowance”) is recognised for the Group’s 
financial assets measured at amortised cost and the Bank Group’s debt 
instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, 
financial guarantees and loan commitments. This method differs from IAS 
39 when the loss allowance is first calculated when a credit-impairing event 
occurs. Under IAS 39, reserves for financial guarantees, loan commitments 
and debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income are also not calculated. 

The Bank Group’s loss allowance and derecognition of confirmed credit 
losses are presented in the income statement as credit losses, net. 

Effect of transition to IFRS 9 
The Group applies IFRS 9 retrospectively but, in line with the transitional 
measures, comparative figures have not been restated. 

The effect of the transition from IAS 39 to IFRS 9 is recognised as an 
adjustment of equity (after tax) in the opening balance for 2018, see the table 
Statement of changes in equity. The effect on the statement of financial 
position is presented in its entirety in note 5. In equity, previous impairment 
by Länsförsäkringar Liv Försäkrings AB that impacted retained earnings was 
transferred to the fair value reserve since IFRS 9 no longer permits valua-
tions at cost since the fair value is not reliably measurable. 
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IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers replaced all previously 
issued standards and interpretations on income on 1 January 2018. 

The standard contains a single model for recognising revenue from 
contracts with customers that is not encompassed by other standards (for 
example, IFRS 4 and IFRS 9). For the Group, this standard encompasses 
revenue reported in commission income and other operating income. 

The Group has applied the future-oriented transition method, which en-
tails that the effects of IFRS 15 are recognised as an adjustment to the ope-
ning balance of retained earnings. No such effects on the opening balance 
have arisen. The method also means that comparative figures for 2017 have 
not been restated. The standard entails that reclassifications are done in 
the income statement for the Group. Costs for rebating of commissions and 
fund discounts are recognised as a deduction in commission income instead 
of in commission expense as previously. 

NEW IFRS AND INTERPRETATIONS THAT HAVE NOT YET BEEN APPLIED 
IFRS 16 Leases 
IFRS 16 Leases will replace IAS 17 Leases on 1 January 2019. The standard 
primarily entails that the leases in which the Group is the lessee and that are 
currently classified as operating leases will instead need to be recognised 
in the statement of financial position. In connection with the transition, the 
Group will recognise the leases that were previously classified as operating 
leases in the statement of financial position except for leases of a low value 
and leases with a term of less than 12 months.

The Länsförsäkringar AB Group will apply the transition method modified 
retrospective approach, which entails that the incremental borrowing rate 
on the transition on 1 January 2019 is used to calculate the lease liability and 
that the comparative year is recognised according to the current IAS 17. 
Lease assets recognised in the statement of financial position on transition 
will correspond to the lease liability. Based on the Group’s leases on the 
transition date, IFRS 16 is not expected to entail any material impact on the 
Group’s financial position. 

In all other respects, the interim report has been prepared in accordance 
with the same accounting policies and calculation methods applied in the 
2017 Annual Report.
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Note 2 Earnings per segment

Jan–Dec 2018, SEK M
Non-life   

insurance
Unit-linked 

insurance Bank
Parent  

Company  

Eliminations 
and  

adjustments Total

Premiums earned after ceded reinsurance 5,891 234 – – –25 6,100

Net interest income – – 4,497 – 3 4,500

Change in unit-linked insurance assets – policyholder bears the risk – –4,539 – – – –4,539

Dividends in unit-linked insurance assets – policyholder bears the risk – 8 – – – 8

Investment income, net 23 –140 43 1,498 –1,450 –26

Commission income 25 1,658 1,253 – 2 2,937

Other operating income 408 236 16 3,233 –1,546 2,346

Total operating income 6,347 –2,544 5,809 4,731 –3,016 11,327

Claims payments after ceded reinsurance –4,196 –109 – – 389 –3,915

Change in life-assurance provision – – – – –9 –9

Change in unit-linked insurance liabilities – policyholder bears the risk – 4,668 – – – 4,668

Commission expense –507 –697 –2,026 – 14 –3,216

Staff costs –539 –181 –588 –977 58 –2,228

Other administration expenses –703 –461 –1,590 –2,425 998 –4,182

Loan losses – – –95 – – –95

Total expenses –5,945 3,220 –4,299 –3,403 1,451 –8,976

Technical result 402 676 – – –1,078 –

Non technical recognition 58 –3 – – –55 –

Operating profit 460 673 1,510 1,328 –1,621 2,351

Tax – – – – – –162

Net profit for the period – – – – – 2,190

Income distribution

External income 6,167 –2,979 6,254 1,792 93 11,327

Internal income 180 435 –445 2,939 –3,109 –

Total operating income 6,347 –2,544 5,809 4,731 –3,016 11,327

The distribution into operating segments matches how the Group is organised 
and is monitored by Group Management. The technical result is presented for 
Non-life insurance and Unit-linked insurance since the result is followed up by 
Group Management. Income is primarily attributable to Sweden, with a small 
portion from Denmark, Finland, France, Norway and the UK.

The Non-life insurance segment pertains to non-life and group life-assurance; 
group life-assurance comprises a minor portion only. The Länsförsäkringar 
Alliance’s internal and external reinsurance is also included. 

The Unit-linked insurance segment pertains to life-assurance with links to 
mutual funds. 

The Bank segment pertains to deposits and lending operations. The legal 
structure of Länsförsäkringar Bank Group matches the product offering to 
customers.

The Parent Company segment pertains to service, IT and development for 
the Länsförsäkringar Alliance, administration of securities funds and costs for 
joint functions.

Depreciation/amortisation and impairment: Depreciation of property and 
equipment and amortisation of intangible assets is included in Other adminis-
tration expenses in Non-life insurance. Amortisation pertaining to acquired 
intangible assets under Unit-linked insurance is included in eliminations and 
adjustments of administration expenses.

Investment income, net: Investment income that is transferred from financial 
operations to insurance operations is recognised in non-life insurance.

Continued on next page
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Note 2 Earnings per segment, cont.

Jan–Dec 2017, SEK M
Non-life   

insurance
Unit-linked 

insurance Bank
Parent  

Company  

Eliminations 
and  

adjustments Total

Premiums earned after ceded reinsurance 5,623 198 – – –20 5,802

Net interest income – – 3,996 – –3 3,994

Change in unit-linked insurance assets – policyholder bears the risk – 10,177 – – – 10,177

Dividends in unit-linked insurance assets – policyholder bears the risk – 6 – – – 6

Investment income, net 26 164 –7 1,875 –1,763 295

Commission income 23 1,583 1,789 – –409 2,987

Other operating income 639 248 19 2,946 –1,386 2,466

Total operating income 6,312 12,377 5,797 4,821 –3,580 25,726

Claims payments after ceded reinsurance –3,764 –98 – - 345 –3,517

Change in life-assurance provision – – – – –8 –8

Change in unit-linked insurance liabilities – policyholder bears the risk – –10,352 – – – –10,352

Commission expense –475 –643 –2,540 – 419 –3,239

Staff costs –454 –177 –549 –906 26 –2,060

Other administration expenses –642 –469 –1,052 –2,276 772 –3,667

Loan losses – – –58 – – –58

Total expenses –5,335 –11,739 –4,198 –3,182 1,553 –22,901

Technical result 977 638 – – –1,615 –

Non technical recognition 51 –38 – – –13 –

Operating profit 1,028 600 1,599 1,638 –2,040 2,825

Tax – – – – – –575

Net profit for the period – – – – – 2,250

Income distribution

External income 6,136 11,980 5,802 1,598 209 25,726

Internal income 176 397 –5 3,222 –3,790 –

Total operating income 6,312 12,377 5,797 4,821 –3,580 25,726

Note 3 Related-party transactions

SEK M
Income 

Jan–Dec
Expenses 
Jan–Dec

Receivables 
31 Dec

Liabilities 
31 Dec

Commit-
ments 
31 Dec

2018

Länsförsäkringar Liv 
Försäkrings AB 353 36 102 1,005 –

Regional insurance companies 3,668 4,498 8,792 13,471 57

Other related parties 30 15 12 47 9

2017

Länsförsäkringar Liv Group 385 39 103 1,038 300

Regional insurance companies 4,160 4,507 8,737 13,664 59

Other related parties 14 15 25 42 6

Income and expenses include interest. Receivables and liabilities to regional insurance 
companies include technical reserves.

Länsförsäkringar Liv decided in 2018 to enter into a run-off agreement with 
Länsförsäkringar AB and with Länsförsäkringar Fondliv for Länsförsäkringar Liv’s run off. 
In light of this, a decision was made to sign a 20-year service agreement under which 
Länsförsäkringar AB and Länsförsäkringar Fondliv undertake to deliver services at a 
predetermined price per year. The remuneration levels in the agreement reflect 
Länsförsäkringar AB’s and Länsförsäkringar Fondliv’s plans to gradually reduce the cost 
for the services rendered. The agreement includes a renegotiation clause that entails that 
the parties can review the remuneration level every 36 months if the circumstances have 
significantly changed. The agreement impacts the Länsförsäkringar AB Group’s solvency 
situation as per 31 December 2018. The solvency ratio declined by approximately 2 
percentage points, primarily as a result of the agreement’s effect on Länsförsäkringar 
Fondliv’s assumption regarding operating expense cash flow.
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Note 4 Fair value valuation techniques

Table 1 31 December 2018 31 December 2017

SEK M Book value Fair value Book value Fair value

Assets

Shares in Länsförsäkringar Liv Försäkrings AB 8 8 8 8

Loans to the public 289,426 290,228 261,444 262,346

Unit-linked insurance assets – policyholder bears the risk 122,340 122,340 124,730 124,730

Shares and participations 2,700 2,700 2,570 2,570

Bonds and other interest-bearing securities 43,950 43,950 44,008 44,008

Treasury bills and other eligible bills 10,847 10,847 10,531 10,531

Derivatives 6,090 6,090 5,182 5,182

Other receivables 506 – 392 –

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 150 – 590 –

Cash and cash equivalents 6,075 – 1,196 –

Total assets 482,093 450,651

Liabilities

Subordinated liabilities 2,593 2,632 2,596 2,681

Debt securities in issue 210,304 214,315 187,870 191,829

Deposits from the public 106,854 108,677 98,197 99,962

Due to credit institutions 5,992 – 3,996 –

Derivatives 787 787 1,187 1,187

Other liabilities 792 – 875 –

Accrued expenses and deferred income 1,499 – 3,582 –

Total liabilities 328,821 298,303

Gains and losses are recognised in profit and loss in Investment income, net.

The fair value of other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, due to credit institutions and other liabilities comprises a reasonable approximation based on the 
cost of the assets and liabilities since these assets and liabilities have short terms.
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Note 4 Fair value valuation techniques, cont.

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of financial position are presented in the table based on the valuation techniques applied:

Level 1 refers to prices determined from prices listed in an active market.
Level 2 refers to prices determined by calculated prices of observable market listings.
Level 3 refers to prices based on own assumptions and judgements.

Table 2 –  Fair value valuation techniques

31 December 2018, SEK M Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Owner-occupied property _ _ 3,232 3,232

Shares in Länsförsäkringar Liv Försäkrings AB – – 8 8

Unit-linked insurance assets – policyholder bears the risk 122,340 – – 122,340

Shares and participations 1,555 43 1,103 2,700

Bonds and other interest-bearing securities 43,700 – 250 43,950

Treasury bills and other eligible bills 10,847 – – 10,847

Derivatives 1 6,090 – 6,090

Liabilities 

Derivatives 3 784 – 787

31 December 2017, SEK M

Assets

Owner-occupied property – – 2,887 2,887

Unit-linked insurance assets – policyholder bears the risk 124,730 – – 124,730

Shares and participations 1,603 13 954 2,570

Bonds and other interest-bearing securities 43,820 – 188 44,008

Treasury bills and other eligible bills 10,531 – – 10,531

Derivatives 1 5,181 – 5,182

Liabilities

Derivatives 0 1,187 – 1,187

There were no significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during 2018 or during 2017. There were no transfers from Level 3 in 2018 or 2017. 
Normally, there are no active markets for owner-occupied property within Level 3, which is why fair value is estimated using models based on discounted cash 

flows. The method applied to the calculation of fair value is a combination of the location-price method, based on reported purchases of comparable properties, 
and a return-based cash-flow method. The return method is based on a calculation of the present value of future actual cash flows in the form of operating net, 
which has been successively adjusted to market over 10 years and the present value of the estimated residual value in year 10. The residual value was estimated 
by performing a constant capitalisation of an estimated market-adjusted operating net.

Shares and participations in Level 3 are measured at fair value. Holdings in Länsförsäkringar AB and the insurance companies are measured at equity per share 
based on the most recent company reports. Delisted, insolvent companies are measured at zero, if no other listing can be found. Länsförsäkringar Bank AB holds 
shares and participations that cannot be reliably measured based on listing in an active market. Instead, regular valuations are performed based on, for example, 
recent company reports and forecast results. 

The fair value of Level 2 shares and participations that pertain to unquoted Series B shares with conversion rights to quoted Series A shares without restric-
tions is measured based on the price of the Series A share on the balance-sheet date. 

Level 2 derivatives essentially refer to swaps for which fair value has been calculated by discounting expected future cash flows. 
Bonds and other interest-bearing securities in Level 3 that are not quoted in an active market comprise interest-bearing, unquoted loans. Valuations are perfor-
med by external managers based on generally accepted valuation techniques, which means that the underlying holdings held by the issuer of the loan are valued 
based on relevant observable market data wherever available. Holdings for which market data is not available are measured at a fair value corresponding to the 
cost adjusted for impairment.

Financial instruments measured at amortised cost in the statement of financial position
Fair values for deposits from the public (Level 2) and loans to the public (Level 3) have been calculated using discounted expected cash flows where the discount 
rates applied are the current deposit and lending rates (including discounts). During the year, loans to the public were transferred from Level 2 to Level 3 since 
the discounts used for calculating fair value are not observable in a market.

Fair value (Level 2) for debt securities in issue and subordinated liabilities is determined based on quoted prices. Parts of debt securities in issue that are consi-
dered to be illiquid are adjusted based on expected current issue prices. Commercial papers do not have market prices and the fair value is determined based on 
the yield curve of each currency.

Länsförsäkringar Alliance 
Annual Review in summary 2018 27 Länsförsäkringar AB Group, notes to the consolidated financial statements



Note 4 Fair value valuation techniques, cont.

Table 3 – Change level 3

SEK M
Owner-

occupied property

Shares in 
Länsförsäkringar Liv 

Försäkrings AB
Shares and  

participations

Bonds and other  
interest-bearing  

securities Other receivables Total

Opening balance, 1 January 2018 2,887 – 954 188 – 4,029

Acquisition 37 0 62 – 99

Divestments – –10 –16 – –26

Application of IFRS 9 – 8 – – – 8

Recognised in net profit for the period –84 – 159 15 – 89

Recognised in other comprehensive 
income – – – 393 – 393

Closing balance, 31 December 2018 3,232 8 1,103 250 – 4,593

Opening balance, 1 January 2017 2,721 – 786 149 20 3,675

Acquisition 31 – 21 35 – 87

Divestments – – –10 – –20 –30

Recognised in net profit for the year –77 – 158 4 – 85

Recognised in other comprehensive 
income 211 – – – – 211

Closing balance, 31 December 2017 2,887 – 954 188 – 4,029
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Consolidated statement of financial position for Länsförsäkringar AB Group

SEK M
1 Jan 2018

IAS 39 Adjustment
1 Jan 2018

IFRS 9

Assets

Goodwill 538 538

Other intangible assets 4,304 4,304

Deferred tax assets 47 47

Property and equipment 44 44

Owner-occupied property 2,887 2,887

Shares in Länsförsäkringar Liv Försäkrings AB 8 8

Shares and participations in associated companies 48 48

Reinsurers’ portion of technical provisions 10,475 10,475

Loans to the public 261,444 -88 261,356

Unit-linked insurance assets – policyholder bears the risk 124,730 124,730

Shares and participations 2,570 2,570

Bonds and other interest-bearing securities 44,008 44,008

Treasury bills and other eligible bills 10,531 10,531

Derivatives 5,182 5,182

Change in value of hedge portfolios 248 248

Other receivables 3,576 33 3,609

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 1,936 -5 1,931

Cash and cash equivalents 1,196 1,196

Total assets 473,773 -60 473,713

Equity and liabilities

Equity

Share capital 1,042 1,042

Other capital contributed 10,272 10,272

Additional Tier 1 instruments 1,200 1,200

Reserves 948 -544 404

Retained earnings including profit for the period 11,394 457 11,851

Total equity 24,857 -87 24,770

Subordinated liabilities 2,596 2,596

Technical provisions 18,903 18,903

Unit-linked insurance liabilities – policyholder bears the risk 125,583 125,583

Deferred tax liabilities 1,533 1,533

Other provisions 115 19 134

Debt securities in issue 187,870 187,870

Deposits from the public 98,197 98,197

Due to credit institutions 3,996 3,996

Derivatives 1,187 1,187

Change in value of hedge portfolios 1,200 1,200

Other liabilities 3,059 9 3,068

Accrued expenses and deferred income 4,676 4,676

Total equity and liabilities 473,773 27 473,800

Note 5 Financial effect of change in accounting policy from IAS 39 to IFRS 9

The transition from IAS 39 to IFRS 9 entails that the Länsförsäkringar AB Group’s equity declined SEK 87 M. The Länsförsäkringar AB Group’s loss allowance 
increased SEK 88 M and the regional insurance companies’ commitments for credit losses for generated business increased SEK 33 M. The loss allowance for loan 
commitments and guarantees amounted to SEK 19 M.
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Financial assets and liabilities by category according to IFRS 9

SEK M
Carrying amount 

1 Jan 2018 Category according to IAS 39 Category according to IFRS 9

Assets

Shares in Länsförsäkringar Liv Försäkrings AB 8 Available-for-sale financial assets
Fair value through other comprehensive 
income

Loans to the public 261,356 Loans and receivables Amortised cost

Unit-linked insurance assets – policyholder bears the 
risk 124,730

Financial assets designated at fair value 
through profit or loss Fair value through profit or loss

Shares and participations 2,570

  of which: strategic investments 101

55
Financial assets designated at fair value 
through profit or loss

Fair value through other comprehensive 
income

46 Available-for-sale financial assets
Fair value through other comprehensive 
income

 of which:  other shares and participations 2,469
Financial assets designated at fair value 
through profit or loss Fair value through profit or loss

Bonds and other interest-bearing securities 44,008

 of which: holdings in the insurance companies 7,570
Financial assets designated at fair value 
through profit or loss Fair value through profit or loss

 of which: holdings in Länsförsäkringar AB 720 Available-for-sale financial assets Fair value through profit or loss

 of which: holdings in the Bank Group 35,718 Available-for-sale financial assets
Fair value through other comprehensive 
income

Treasury bills and other eligible bills 10,531 Available-for-sale financial assets
Fair value through other comprehensive 
income

Derivatives 5,182

 of which: hedge accounting 5,111 Derivatives for hedge accounting Derivatives for hedge accounting

 of which: other 71 Held for trading Fair value through profit or loss

Other receivables 425 Loans and receivables Amortised cost

Cash and cash equivalents 1,196 Loans and receivables Amortised cost

Total assets 450,006

Liabilities

Subordinated liabilities 2,596 Other financial liabilities Other financial liabilities

Debt securities in issue 187,870 Other financial liabilities Other financial liabilities

Deposits from the public 98,197 Other financial liabilities Other financial liabilities

Due to credit institutions 3,996 Other financial liabilities Other financial liabilities

Derivatives 1,187

 of which: hedge accounting 1,166 Derivatives for hedge accounting Derivatives for hedge accounting

 of which: other 20 Held for trading Fair value through profit or loss

Other liabilities 875 Other financial liabilities Other financial liabilities

Total liabilities 294,721

Reconciliation of loss allowance for transition to IFRS 9

SEK M
1 Jan 2018

IAS 39 Adjustment
1 Jan 2018

IFRS 9

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

 Cash and cash equivalents - 0.0 0.0

 Loans to the public 267.5 88.3 355.8

 Other receivables - - -

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

 Treasury bills and other eligible bills - 0.2 0.2

 Bonds and other interest-bearing securities - 0.5 0.5

Loan commitments and other credit commitments - 18.5 18.5

Guarantees - 0.1 0.1

Total loss allowance 267.5 107.6 375.1

Note 5 Financial effect of change in accounting policy from IAS 39 to IFRS 9, cont.
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Income statement for Länsförsäkringar AB, Parent Company 

SEK M
Jan-Dec 

2018
Jul-Dec 

2018
Jan-Jun 

2018
Jan-Dec 

2017

Net sales 3,235 1,749 1,486 2,948

Operating expenses

External expenses –2,340 –1,343 –997 –2,163

Staff costs –959 –457 –502 –888

Depreciation/amortisation and impairment of property and equipment 
and intangible assets –105 –83 –22 –133

Operating profit/loss –169 –135 –34 –236

Profit/loss from financial items

Profit from participations in Group companies 1,506 171 1,335 1,931

Interest income and similar profit/loss items –2 –2 0 5

Interest expense and similar profit/loss items –7 –4 –3 –63

Profit/loss after financial items 1,328 32 1,297 1,638

Tax –7 –6 –1 –13

Profit for the period 1,322 26 1,295 1,625

Statement of comprehensive income for Länsförsäkringar AB, Parent Company 

SEK M
Jan-Dec 

2018
Jul-Dec 

2018
Jan-Jun 

2018
Jan-Dec 

2017

Profit/loss for the period 1,322 26 1,295 1,625

Other comprehensive income

Items that have been transferred or can be transferred to profit for 
the period

Cash–flow hedges – – – 17

Change for the year in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets – – – –6

Tax attributable to items that have been transferred or can be  
transferred to profit for the period – – – –2

Items that cannot be transferred to profit for the period

Change in fair value of equity instruments measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income 0 0 0 –

Total other comprehensive income for the period, net after tax 0 0 0 9

Comprehensive income for the period 1,321 26 1,295 1,633

Länsförsäkringar AB, Parent Company
Financial statements
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Balance sheet for Länsförsäkringar AB, Parent Company 

SEK M 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017

ASSETS

Fixed assets

Intangible assets 373 398

Property and equipment 45 61

Financial assets

Shares and participations in Group companies 17,742 16,891

Participating interests in other companies 1,016 1,021

Other fixed assets 913 741

Total financial assets 19,671 18,653

Total fixed assets 20,089 19,112

Current assets 813 978

Cash and bank balances 209 254

TOTAL ASSETS 21,111 20,345

EQUITY, PROVISIONS AND LIABILITIES

Restricted equity 6,068 6,033

Non-restricted equity 13,565 12,578

Total equity 19,633 18,611

Provisions 46 65

Long-term liabilities 323 216

Current liabilities 1,109 1,453

TOTAL EQUITY, PROVISIONS AND LIABILITIES 21,111 20,345

Statement of cash flows for Länsförsäkringar AB, Parent Company 

SEK M
Jan–Dec 

2018
Jan–Dec 

2017

Operating activities

Profit after financial items 1,328 1,638

Adjustment for non-cash items –109 –209

Tax paid –43 –38

Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital 1,176 1,391

Cash flow from changes in working capital

Increase (–)/Decrease (+) in operating receivables 185 371

Increase (+)/Decrease (–) in operating liabilities –244 50

Cash flow from operating activities 1,118 1,812

Investing activities

Acquisition of shares in Group company –800 -55

Other investing activities –63 -56

Cash flow from investing activities –863 -111

Financing activities

Amortisations of loans – –1,699

Dividends paid –300 –

Cash flow from financing activities –300 -1,699

Cash flow for the period –45 3

Cash and cash equivalents, 1 January 254 251

Cash and cash equivalents, 31 December 209 254

Länsförsäkringar Alliance 
Annual Review in summary 2018 32 Länsförsäkringar AB, Parent Company, financial statements



Statement of changes in equity for Länsförsäkringar AB, Parent Company

Restricted equity Non-restricted equity

SEK M Share capital

Development 
Expenditures 

Fund
Statutory 

reserve
Fair value 

reserve 
Hedging 
reserve

Share  
premium 

reserve

Retained 
earnings, 
including  
net profit  

for the year Total

Opening equity, 1 January 2017 1,042 241 4,801 5 –13 5,471 5,430 16,978

Comprehensive income for the period – – – –4 13 – 1,625 1,633

Capitalised proprietary development 
expenditures – –52 – – – – 52 –

Closing equity, 31 December 2017 1,042 189 4,801 1 – 5,471 7,106 18,611

Effect due to change in accounting policy¹ – – – –504 – – 504 –

Opening balance, 1 January 2018 after 
adjustment for change in accounting policy 1,042 189 4,801 –503 – 5,471 7,610 18,611

Dividends paid – – – – – – –300 –300

Comprehensive income for the period – – – 0 – – 1,295 1,295

Capitalised proprietary development 
expenditures – 21 – – – – –21 –

Closing equity, 30 June 2018 1,042 211 4,801 –503 – 5,471 8,584 19,607

Opening balance, 1 July 2018 1,042 211 4,801 –503 – 5,471 8,584 19,607

Comprehensive income for the period – – – – – – 27 27

Capitalised proprietary development 
expenditures – 13 – – – – –13 –

Closing equity, 31 December 2018 1,042 224 4,801 –503 – 5,471 8,598 19,633

¹Effect of the change in accounting policy from IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.

Länsförsäkringar Alliance 
Annual Review in summary 2018 33 Länsförsäkringar AB, Parent Company, financial statements



Note 1 Accounting policies

The Parent Company prepares its accounts according to the Swedish Annual 
Accounts Act (1995:1554). The company also applies the Swedish Financial 
Reporting Board’s recommendation RFR 2 Accounting for Legal Entities and 
statements issued pertaining to listed companies. The regulations in RFR 2 
stipulate that in the annual accounts the Parent Company is to apply all IFRS 
adopted by the EU and statements to the extent that this is possible within the 
framework of the Swedish Annual Accounts Act and the Pension Obligations 
Vesting Act and with consideration to the relationship between accounting and 
taxation. The recommendation stipulates the permissible exceptions from and 
additions to IFRS. 

AMENDED ACCOUNTING POLICIES APPLIED FROM  
1 JANUARY 2018 
From 1 January 2018, Länsförsäkringar AB applies the following new accounting 
policies for the reporting of financial instruments (IFRS 9) and revenue from 
contracts with customers (IFRS 15). The changes in accounting policies applied 
by the Parent Company from 1 January 2018 correspond to the changes for the 
Group and are described in the Group’s note 1 Accounting policies. Länsförsäk-
ringar AB’s classification of financial assets and liabilities according to IFRS 9 
and the differences compared with IAS 39 are presented in note 4. 

Effect of transition to IFRS 9 
In line with the transitional measures, Länsförsäkringar AB has chosen not 
to restate comparative information for prior periods and have no transition 
effects of IFRS 9 recognised in retained earnings on 1 January 2018. IFRS 9 
also did not entail any differences for the measurement of balance-sheet items 
compared with previous carrying amounts under IAS 39. 

Changes in fair value of equity instruments that previously impacted retai-
ned earnings and that are measured at fair value through other comprehen-
sive income under IFRS 9 were transferred to the fair value reserve. Changes 
in value of debt instruments that were previously recognised in the fair value 
reserve and that are measured at fair value through profit and loss under 
IFRS 9 were transferred to retained earnings. In equity, previous impairment 
by Länsförsäkringar Liv Försäkrings AB that impacted retained earnings was 
also transferred to the fair value reserve since IFRS 9 no longer permits 
valuations at cost. 

Note 2 Related-party transactions

SEK M
Income 

Jan–Dec
Expenses 
Jan–Dec

Receivables 
31 Dec

Liabilities 
31 Dec

2018

Group companies 2,939 –143 461 246

Länsförsäkringar Liv 
Försäkrings AB 219 –8 16 38

Regional insurance companies 1,488 –22 165 592

Other related parties 23 –4 0 –

2017

Group companies 3,225 –140 677 292

Länsförsäkringar Liv Group 234 –15 20 163

Regional insurance companies 1,376 –34 121 639

Other related parties 7 –0 0 –

Income and expenses include interest.

Note 3 Pledged assets and contingent liabilities

SEK M 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017

Pledged assets

Pledged shares in subsidiaries – 300

Contingent liabilities

Part-owner of Utile Dulci 2 HB 13 23

Länsförsäkringar Liv decided in 2018 to enter into a run-off agreement with 
Länsförsäkringar AB and with Länsförsäkringar Fondliv for Länsförsäkringar 
Liv’s run off. Additional information about the agreement is provide in Group 
note 3 Related-party transactions.

Amounts are in SEK, unless otherwise stated.

Länsförsäkringar AB, Parent Company
Notes to the financial statements
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Note 4 Transition to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

Länsförsäkringar AB began applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments from 1 January 2018. Changes to accounting policies attributable to IFRS 9 are  
described in note 1 Accounting policies.

Financial assets and liabilities by category according to IFRS 9

SEK M
Carrying amount 

1 January 2018 Category according to IAS 39 Category according to IFRS 9

Assets

Other securities held as fixed assets 729

  of which:  bonds and other interest bearing 
securities 720

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit 
or loss

Fair value through other 
comprehensive income

 of which:  strategic investments 9
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit 
or loss Fair value through profit or loss

Shares in Länsförsäkringar Liv Försäkrings AB 8 Available-for-sale financial assets
Fair value through other 
comprehensive income

Receivables from Group companies 677 Loans and receivables Amortised cost

Receivables from other related parties 142 Loans and receivables Amortised cost

Other receivables 53 Loans and receivables Amortised cost

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 106 Loans and receivables Amortised cost

Cash and bank balances 254 Loans and receivables Amortised cost

Total assets 1,970

Liabilities

Liabilities to Group companies 292 Other financial liabilities Amortised cost

Liabilities to other related parties 802 Other financial liabilities Amortised cost

Other liabilities and accounts payable 202 Other financial liabilities Amortised cost

Accrued expenses and deferred income 373 Other financial liabilities Amortised cost

Total liabilities 1,669

Loss allowances for cash and bank balances and receivables amounted to zero or almost zero.

The President and CEO submitted the report for Länsförsäkringar AB Group 
 (pages 11-13, 16-30) on behalf of the Board of Directors. 

This report has not been reviewed by the company’s auditor.

Stockholm 14 February 2019

Fredrik Bergström
President and CEO
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Income statement for Länsförsäkringar Liv Försäkrings AB

SEK M
Jan-dec 

2018
Jul-dec 

2018
Jan-jun 

2018
Jan-dec 

2017

Premium income after ceded reinsurance 1,684 866 818 1,533

Investment income net -527 -1,566 1,029 5,480

Claims payments -4,939 -2,295 –2,644 –5,404

Change in technical provisions 4,992 3,172 1,820 1,990

Operating expenses -412 -233 –179 –417

Technical result, life insurance operations 798 -46 844 3,182

Non-technical expenses - - – –

Profit before tax 798 -46 844 3,182

Tax allocation reserve -14 -14 – 61

Tax -175 -114 –61 –122

Profit for the period 609 -174 783 3,121

Other comprehensive income for the period - - – –

Comprehensive income for the period 609 -174 783 3,121

Balance sheet for Länsförsäkringar Liv Försäkrings AB 

SEK M 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017

ASSETS

Investment assets 110,662 115,377

Reinsurers’ portion of technical provisions 397 472

Receivables 1,399 1,217

Other assets 3,979 5,423

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 72 105

TOTAL ASSETS 116,509 122,594

EQUITY, PROVISIONS AND LIABILITIES

Equity 23,703 24,150

Untaxed reserves 340 327

Technical provisions 84,850 90,165

Provisions for other risks and expenses 30 76

Deposits from reinsurers 397 472

Liabilities 7,006 7,215

Accrued expenses and deferred income 183 189

TOTAL EQUITY, PROVISIONS AND LIABILITIES 116,509 122,594

Länsförsäkringar Liv Försäkrings AB

For information about Länsförsäkringar Liv´s key figures, see separate “Nyckeltalsrapport” available at https://www.lansforsakringar.se/foretag/om-oss/finansiellt/gemen-
samma-bolag/lansforsakringar-liv/
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Fanny Wallér, Director of Corporate Communications Länsförsäkringar AB
Fanny.Waller@lansforsakringar.se, +46 (0)8-588 414 69, +46 (0)70-692 77 79

Länsförsäkringar AB (publ),
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